
  
FEBRUARY   22,   2021   

  
WATERLOO   REGION   DISTRICT   SCHOOL   BOARD   

  
NOTICE   OF   MEETING   

  
The  regular  monthly   Board  Meeting  of  the  Waterloo  Region  District  School  Board  will  be  held  via                  
video   conference,   on    Monday,   February   22,   2021,   at   7:00   p.m.   

  
AGENDA   
  

Call   to   Order   
  

Territorial   Acknowledgement   and   O   Canada   
  

Approval   of   Agenda   
  

Consent   Agenda**   
Receipt/Approval   of   Minutes :   

Approve   Minutes   –   Audit   Committee   Meeting   of   November   10,   2020   
Approve   Minutes   –   Parent   Involvement   Committee   Meeting   of   December   1,   2020   
Approve   Minutes   –   Special   Education   Advisory   Committee   Meeting   of   January   13,   2021   
Receive   Minutes   –   Board   Meeting   of   January   25,   2021   
Approve   Minutes   –   Committee   of   the   Whole   Meeting   of   February   8,   2021   
Receipt/Approval   of   Monthly   Reports :   

25 Staffing   Information   –   Retirements   and   Resignations M.   Weinert   
28 Staffing   Recommendations   –   Appointments M.   Weinert   

  
Declarations   of   Pecuniary   Interest   
  

Announcements/Celebrating   Board   Activities   
  

Communications   Good   News   Update C.   Newton   
  

Delegations   
  

Reports   
30 Quarterly   Student   Aggression   Report M.   Weinert   
36 Annual   French   Immersion   Enrolment   Status   Update M.   Gerard   
41 Cambridge   Joint   Use   Campus   Feasibility   Study M.   Gerard   

Targeted   Testing   Verbal   Update B.   Lemon   
  

Board   Reports   
  

Board   Communications   
186 Ottawa-Carlton   District   School   Board   to   Minister   of   Education   
188 Renfrew   County   District   School   Board   to   Minister   of   Education   
191 Toronto   District   School   Board   to   Minister   of   Education   et   al.   
193 Waterloo   Region   District   School   Board   to   Premier   of   Ontario   
195 Waterloo   Region   District   School   Board   to   Minister   of   Education   -   COVID-19   Command   Table   
  

**All  matters  listed  under  the  Consent  Agenda  are  considered  not  to  require  debate  by  the  Board  of  Trustees                    
and   should   be   approved   in   one   motion   in   accordance   with   the   recommendation   contained   in   each   report.   
  



  
197 Waterloo   Region   District   School   Board   to   Minister   of   Education   -   Education   Funding   
199 Waterloo   Region   District   School   Board   to   Minister   of   Education   -   Rural   High   Speed   Internet   
  

Other   Business   
  

Question   Period    (10   minutes)   
  

Future   Agenda   Items    (Notices   of   motion   to   be   referred   to   Agenda   Development   Committee)   
  

Adjournment   

2   
Questions   relating   to   this   agenda   should   be   directed   to   

Stephanie   Reidel,   Manager   of   Corporate   Services   
519-570-0003,   ext.   4336,   or   Stephanie_Reidel@wrdsb.ca   

  



Report to Board of Trustees 
February 22, 2021 

Subject:  Staffing Information –  
 Retirements and Resignations 

Recommendation  

This report is provided for information of the Board. 

Status 

The employees listed in Appendix A of this report have received acknowledgement of 
their retirement or resignation. 

Background 

The board’s practice is to receive information regarding staff retirements and 
resignations at regular monthly board meetings. 

Financial implications 

Expenses are within the existing approved budget. 

Communications 

Employees listed in this report have communicated through Human Resource Services.  

 

Prepared by:  Michael Weinert, Coordinating Superintendent, Human Resource 
Services, in consultation with Coordinating Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

25



Appendix A 

 
Staffing Statistics – Retirements 

Current at February 22, 2021 
 

 
 

Retirements: Elementary Teaching Staff 

First Last Position/Location Retirement Date Years 
of 

Service 
Wehrle Blackie Teacher, Coronation PS March 31, 2021 22 

 

 

 

Retirements: Secondary Teaching Staff 

First Last Position/Location Retirement Date Years 
of 

Service
Suzanne Patterson Teacher, Galt Collegiate Institute June 30, 2021 21 

 
 

 

Retirements: Administrative & Support Staff 

First Last Position/Location Retirement Date Years 
of 

Service
Cindy Balfour Educational Assistant, Special 

Education 
May 28, 2021 22 

Allan MacKay Principal, Elgin Street PS March 31, 2021 28 
Charlanne Russell Social Worker, Special Education February 28, 2021 30 
Deborah Taylor Educational Assistant, Smithson PS April 30, 2021 16 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

26



 
Staffing Statistics – Resignations 

Current at February 22, 2021 
,  
 
 

Permanent Staff Resignations 

First Last Position/Location 
 

Effective Date 

Justin Collins Secondary Teacher, Eastwood CI January 22, 
2021 

Jennifer Kuspira Supply Educational Assistant, Various February 19, 
2021 

Sarah LeRiche Elementary Teacher, Clemens Mill PS February 4, 
2021 

Melissa Mordue Manager of Procurement, Finance February 19, 
2021 

Michelle Prentice Secondary Teacher, Grand River CI February 26, 
2021 

Daniel Rodrigue Custodian, Laurentian PS February 5, 
2021 

Rachel Shedletzky Early Childhood Educator, Distance Learning 
Program 

February 5, 
2021 

Tanner Smith Custodian, Kitchener CI February 3, 
2021 

Tracy Tavares Custodial Maintenance Helper, Forest Heights CI February 5, 
2021 

 

27



 

Page 1 of 2 

Report to Board of Trustees 
February 22, 2021 

Subject:  Staffing Recommendations – Appointments 

Recommendation 

That the Waterloo Region District School Board approve the appointments to staff as 
outlined in the report titled “Staffing Recommendations – Appointments, dated February 
22, 2021. 

Status 

The staff appointments as noted on Appendix A of this report are effective the dates 
indicated. 

Background 

The board’s practice has been to have appointments presented for information at 
regular monthly board meetings. 

Financial implications 

Expenses are within the existing approved budget. 

Communications 

Employees listed in this report have, or will be advised of the appointments.  

 

Prepared by:  Michael Weinert, Coordinating Superintendent, Human Resource 
Services, in consultation with Coordinating Council. 

 

  

28



 

Page 2 of 2 

Appendix A 
 

Staffing Information – New Appointments 

Current at February 22, 2021 

 

New Appointments: Elementary Teaching Staff 
First Last School ID / Education Centre Effective Date 

Alanna Bauman Queensmount Public School February 8, 2021 
Duncan Woodland Clemens Mill Public School February 16, 2021 
Heather Yantzi Sandhill Public School February 1, 2021 

 

New Appointments: Secondary Teaching Staff 
First Last School ID / Education Centre Effective Date 

Sonya Boht Elmira District Secondary School February 3, 2021 
Tonja Clark Forest Heights Collegiate Institute February 3, 2021 
Nyla Joseph Waterloo Collegiate Institute February 3, 2021 

Richard Lebel Grand River Collegiate Institute February 3, 2021 
Katie Malcho Forest Heights Collegiate Institute February 3, 2021 

 
Anna Marsh 

Sir John A MacDonald Secondary 
School 

 
February 3, 2021 

Shannon McGonegal Waterloo Collegiate Institute February 3, 2021 
Meagan Pavey Galt Collegiate Institute February 3, 2021 
Bhavna Sahajpal Preston High School February 3, 2021 
Adnan Sheikh Huron Heights Secondary School February 3, 2021 
Allison Small Forest Heights Collegiate Institute February 3, 2021 
Alzahir Tharani Grand River Collegiate Institute February 3, 2021 

Stephen Volante Jacob Hespeler Secondary School February 3, 2021 
Kaitlynn Wong Waterloo Collegiate Institute February 3, 2021 

 

New Appointments: Administrative and Support Staff 
First Last Position / Location Effective Date 

Mariah Adkin Custodian, Brigadoon PS February 17, 2021 
Chrysta Ibanez Secretary/Library Clerk, Clemens Mill 

PS 
February 8, 2021 

Michael McNeil Custodian, Eastwood CI February 15, 2021 
Philip Meyer Custodian, Forest Heights CI February 16, 2021 
Josie Quigley Custodian, Forest Glen PS February 11, 2021 
Neidi Rodriguez Custodian, Abraham Erb PS January 28, 2021 

Dragoslav Stanisic Custodian, Williamsburg PS February 23, 2021 
 
New Hires - due to retirements, resignations or leaves and are to replace full or part time vacancies. 

Human Resource Services 

29



 

Page 1 of 4 

Report to Board of Trustees 
February 22, 2021 

Subject:  Reported Student Aggression Quarterly Data 
Q2 –2020-2021 

Recommendation: 

This report is provided for the Waterloo Region District School Board with information 
regarding reported incidences of student aggression for the quarter (November 16, 
2020-January 30, 2021). 

Status: 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, unforeseen and unplanned disruption continues to 
impact the delivery of education for students within our system.  These impacts have 
resulted in a significant reduction to the student aggression numbers.  Due to the highly 
ambiguous nature of this pandemic, it is difficult to forecast future student aggression 
levels. 

Having said that, we continue to be proactive in utilizing our BMS team to support staff 
and administration in the following ways: 

 Responding to student specific referrals addressing supports for safety plans, 
review of critical incidents, and classroom observations; 

 Creating lunch and learn sessions that include: de-escalation strategies, creating 
a successful safety plan and fostering relationships; 

 Assisting in facilitating the transition of students returning to in-school learning; 
 Meeting with the distance learning administrators to develop resources and 

strategies to facilitate the intake and return of students between the two modes of 
learning; and  

 Providing on-going training for multiple employee groups within the Board.        

Student Aggression incidents are recorded under four (4) categories in order of severity 
from least severe to most severe: 

Hazard:  The worker is reporting a hazard, the worker sustained no injury during 
the incident or it was a near miss.  The Board and Unions actively encourage 
employees to report workplace hazards in order to act proactively to prevent 
more serious incidents.   

First aid:  Applying minor first aid measures like cleaning minor cuts, scrapes or 
scratches; applying a band aid, cold compress or ice pack.  First Aid is provided 
at the workplace.   

Health care (or medical aid):  Worker sustained an injury requiring medical aid 
from an external health care practitioner (i.e. a doctor, nurse, chiropractor or 
physiotherapist); services provided at a hospital and/or health facility and/or 
require prescription drugs.   This is required to be reported to the Workers Safety 
and Insurance Board (WSIB). 

30



 

Page 2 of 4 

Lost Time:  The worker sustains injury that requires time away from work after 
the day of incident and was unable to work.  This is required to be reported to 
the Workers Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB). 

Previous Year Quarterly Report Comparison: 

Quarterly student aggression data as reported by WRDSB staff for the period November 
16, 2020-January 30, 2021 compared to the data from the same period November 16, 
2019-January 30, 2020 last school year:  

 Total Elementary incidents have decreased by 412 incidents from the same 
period last year. 

 Total Secondary incidents have decreased by 39 incidents from the same period 
last year. 

2020-21 Reporting Information:  

Reported Student Aggression Incidents for the Current School Year (November 
16, 2020-January 30, 2021):  

 Total Elementary aggression incidents: (November 16, 2020-January 30, 2021): 
129 Incidents 

o Hazard – 80 incidents 
 62.02% of all elementary incidents 

o First Aid – 47 incidents 
 36.43% of all elementary incidents 

o Health Care – 1 event  
 0.78% of all elementary events 

o Lost Time – 1 events -   
 0.78% of all elementary events 

 
 Total Secondary aggression incidents from (November 16, 2020-January 30, 

2021): 3 incidents 
o Hazard –3 incidents 

 100% of all Secondary incidents 
o First Aid – 0  incidents 

 0.00 % of all Secondary incidents 
o Health Care – 0 incidents 

 0.00% of all Secondary incidents 
o Lost Time – 0 incident 

 0.00 % of all Secondary incidents 
 

 Total aggression incidents for hazards, first aid, health care, and lost time per 
employee group from November 16, 2020-January 30, 2021 - 132 Incidents 
 

o Educational Assistant (EA) / Child and Youth Worker (CYW) – 85 
 64.39% of total incidents 

31



 

Page 3 of 4 

o Early Child Educator (ECE) – 18 
 13.64% of total incidents 

o Elementary Teacher – 18 
 13.64% of total incidents 

o Elementary  Occasional Teacher – 8 
 6.06% of total incidents 

o Administrators – 3 
 2.27% of total incidents 

Reported Student Aggression Incidents For Prior School Year (November 16, 
2019 – January 31, 2020): 

 Total Elementary aggression incidents: (November 16, 2019-January 30, 2020): 
541 Incidents 

o Hazard – 435 incidents 
 80.41% of all elementary incidents 

o First Aid – 99 incidents 
 18.3% of all elementary incidents 

o Health Care – 4 events  
 0.74% of all elementary events 

o Lost Time – 3 events -   
 0.55% of all elementary events 

 
 Total Secondary aggression incidents from (November 16, 2019-January 30, 

2020): 42 incidents 
o Hazard –35 incidents 

 83.33% of all Secondary incidents 
o First Aid – 6  incidents 

 14.29% of all Secondary incidents 
o Health Care – 0 incidents 

 0.00% of all Secondary incidents 
o Lost Time – 1 incident 

 2.38% of all Secondary incidents 
 

 Total aggression incidents for hazards, first aid, health care, and lost time per 
employee group from November 16, 2019-January 30, 2020- 583 Incidents 
 

o Educational Assistant (EA) / Child and Youth Worker (CYW) – 414 
 71.01% of total incidents 

o Education Support Services (ESS) – 2 
 0.34% of total incidents 

o Early Child Educator (ECE) – 34 
 5.83% of total incidents 

o Elementary Teacher – 112 
 19.21% of total incidents 

32



 

Page 4 of 4 

o Secondary Teacher – 10 
 1.72% of total incidents 

o School Monitors and Cafeteria Assistants – 1 
 0.17% of total incidents 

o Administrators – 10 
 1.72% of total incidents 

 

Background: 

As requested by the Board, student aggression data is to be provided on a quarterly 
basis. 

Financial implications: 

The financial impacts are covered within existing Board approved budget lines.  

Communications: 

A report of all workplace incidences, including student aggression is provided every two 
weeks to the Board’s Joint Health and Safety Committee (JHSC).   

Appendices:  

Appendix ‘A’ – Total Incidents: 2017-2020-21 Q2 

Appendix ‘B’ – Types of Incidents by Quarter: 2017-2020-21 Q2 

Prepared by:  Michael Weinert, Coordinating Superintendent, Human Resource 
Services, Justin Brown, Senior Manager, Human Resources Services,                       
Shannon-Melissa Dunlop, Manager, Health, Safety & Security and in 
consultation with Coordinating Council,                                                            

 

33



0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

2017-
2018 Q1

2018-
2019 Q1

2019-
2020 Q1

2020-
2021 Q1

2017-
2018 Q2

2018-
2019 Q2

2019-
2020 Q2

2020-
2021 Q2

2017-
2018 Q3

2018-
2019 Q3

2019-
2020 Q3

2017-
2018 Q4

2018-
2019 Q4

2019-
2020 Q4

# 
of

 In
ci

de
nt

s

Reporting Quarter

Appendix 'A': Total Incidents 2017-2021 Q2 Grouped by Quarter

34



0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2017-
2018 Q1

2018-
2019 Q1

2019-
2020 Q1

2020-
2021 Q1

2017-
2018 Q2

2018-
2019 Q2

2019-
2020 Q2

2020-
2021 Q2

2017-
2018 Q3

2018-
2019 Q3

2019-
2020 Q3

2017-
2018 Q4

2018-
2019 Q4

2019-
2020 Q4

# 
of

 In
ci

de
nt

s
Appendix 'B': Types of Incidents by Quarter 
2017 - > 2020-2021 Q2 Grouped by Quarter

Hazard First Aid Health Care Lost Time

35



  

Report   to   Board   
February   22,   2021   

Subject:   Annual   French   Immersion   Enrolment   Status   
Update   

Recommendation   
This   report   is   for   the   information   of   the   Board.  

Status   
For   the   2021-2022   school   year,   there   are   42   elementary   schools   offering   a   French   
Immersion   program.   All   schools   currently   offering   French   Immersion   will   continue   and   
no   additional   sites   will   be   added   for   the   2021-2022   school   year.   
Projected   Grade   1   Enrolment   
A   total   of   1196   students   applied   to   the   French   Immersion   program   for   the   2021-2022   
school   year   during   Phase   1   (applications   received   between   January   6,   2021,   and   
January   31,   2021).   This   is   a   decrease   of   22   per   cent   (261   students)   over   last   year.   To   
date,   1100   students   have   been   placed   in   Grade   1   French   Immersion   classes.   
There   are   126   French   Immersion   home   school,   assigned   school   and   out   of   area   
students   on   waiting   lists,   as   well   as   approximately   40   who   have   applied   during   Phase   2   
(as   of   February   16,   2021).   
If   all   designated   sites   open   with   full   Grade   1   classes,   96   student   spaces   will   be   available   
across   the   district   for   families   interested   in   transporting   their   child   to   a   French   
Immersion   site.   These   spaces   will   be   offered   to   families   on   waiting   lists,   based   on   
position   established   by   lottery.   

Background   
Appendix   A   lists   the   sites   selected   to   offer   Grade   1   of   the   French   Immersion   program   in   
September   2021.   Students   may   continue   to   apply   for   the   program   until   September   28,   
2021   (Phase   2).   

For   2021-2022,   there   are   15   elementary   French   Immersion   sites   with   limitations   on   
Grade   1   out   of   area   registrations   (Limited   Enrolment   schools).   Families   were   allowed   to   
choose   these   sites   as   their   first   or   second   alternative   choices;   however,   in   the   
preparation   of   the   class   lists,   spaces   at   these   schools   have   been   held   to   accommodate   
Phase   2   students   who   live   within   the   boundary.   Remaining   spaces   may   be   filled   by   out   
of   boundary   students   at   a   later   date.   This   approach   provides   greater   flexibility   in   filling   
classes,   restricting   out   of   boundary   enrolment   where   it   is   necessary,   creating   more   
choices   for   families,   and   providing   better   data   points   to   determine   which   schools   are   
generating   a   large   volume   of   demand   from   out   of   boundary.     

Page   1   of   5   

36



  

The   French   Immersion   program   began   in   the   Waterloo   Region   District   School   Board   
(WRDSB)   in   1977   and   since   then   the   program   has   continued   to   expand.   In   2021-2022,   
5   schools   will   add   additional   grades   to   their   program.   
It   is   the   practice   of   the   Waterloo   Region   District   School   Board   to   consider   implementing   
the   French   Immersion   program   in   school   communities   when   sufficient   demand   exists   as   
defined   in    Administrative   Procedure   1000   –   French   Immersion   -   Elementary .   
In   December   2020,    Administrative   Procedure   1000   –   French   Immersion   -   Elementary   
was   revised   to   provide   greater   clarity,   including   defining   the   terms   used   in   the   
procedure.   
The   Grade   1   component   of   the   French   Immersion   program   typically   represents   
approximately   28   per   cent   of   the   total   Grade   1   enrolment.   French   Immersion   Grade   1   
classes   are   organized   to   accommodate   the   greatest   number   of   students   in   the   program.   

Financial   implications   
No   financial   implications.   

Communications   

On   December   15,   2020,   a   message   about   French   Language   programs   was   sent   out   
using   School-Day   to   all   current   WRDSB   students   attending   elementary   schools   offering   
Senior   Kindergarten   (SK).   This   message   also   provided   information   on   how   to   apply   for   
French   Immersion.   Schools   were   asked   to   share   this   information   using   other   mediums   
with   all   SK   students   not   signed   up   for   School-Day.   Information   about   applying   for   
French   Immersion   was   also   posted   through   the   WRDSB’s   social   media   channels,   and   
websites.   

In   lieu   of   the   French   program   information   sessions   typically   held   in   person   during   the   
month   of   December,   a    pre-recorded   presentation    was   provided   on   the   WRDSB’s   
website.   This   presentation   could   be   accessed   by   families   at   any   time.   

Families   will   be   notified   of   their   placements   through   the   online   French   Immersion   
application   system   prior   to   March   Break.   Business   Services   staff   will   facilitate   
communication   between   applicants   and   the   approved   schools.     

Prepared   by:   Matthew   Gerard,   Coordinating   Superintendent   Business   Services   and   
Treasurer   of   the   Board   
Lauren   Agar,   Manager   of   Planning   
in   consultation   with   Coordinating   Council   

  

  

Page   2   of   5   

37

https://www.wrdsb.ca/wp-content/uploads/5JAN21-Administrative-Procedure-1000-French-Immersion-Elementary-December-2020.pdf
https://www.wrdsb.ca/wp-content/uploads/5JAN21-Administrative-Procedure-1000-French-Immersion-Elementary-December-2020.pdf
https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/e/2PACX-1vQ8cU4Z-oL8Jfz-HQzNf-UGJ1BKtWZ2ONx3Fd-QiPEjCutNuil2koBbC3weGeOH72gJT5l7CRdySXMj/pub?start=false&loop=false&delayms=0&slide=id.g8c1aef1538_39_52


Appendix   A   

Grade   1   French   Immersion   Classes   for   September   2021   
When   generating   Grade   1   French   Immersion   class   lists   and   program   locations,   the   
following   procedural   guidelines   have   been   followed:   

● Due   to   the   enrollment   cap   of   23   on   Grade   1   French   Immersion   classes,   the   
minimum   number   of   students   required   to   open   a   class   in   any   site   with   an   existing   
French   Immersion   program   (contingent   on   the   availability   of   physical   space   at   the   
school   site)   is:   

○ 18   students   for   one   class   (Please   note   that   an   exception   was   made   at   two   
sites   where   if   18   students   are   not   achieved   before   staffing   allocations,   
combined   grade   classes   will   be   used   to   keep   the   program   at   the   site)   

○ 36   students   for   two   classes   
○ 54   students   for   three   classes   

● A   minimum   of   36   students   is   required   to   open   a   class   at   a   school   site   that   
currently   does   not   have   an   existing   French   Immersion   program,   contingent   on   
the   availability   of   physical   space   and   a   number   of   other   factors.   

● Based   on   registrations   received   during   Phase   1   (between   January   6   and   31,   
2021),   all   Grade   1   French   Immersion   classes   are   created   through   a   lottery   
system   in   this   order:   

○ Home   School   and   Assigned   School   students   with   a   sibling   presently   in   
French   Immersion   at   the   school   will   be   placed   first.   Note,   this   only   applies   
if   the   sibling   will   be   attending   French   Immersion   at   the   Home   School/   
Assigned   School   when   the   applicant   enters   Grade   1.   

○ Home   School   students   without   siblings   in   a   French   Immersion   program  
will   be   placed   second   

○ Out   of   Boundary   students,   including   Assigned   School   students   without   
French   Immersion   siblings   will   be   placed   third,   except   at   Limited   
Enrolment   schools   

● After   January   31,   2021   all   registrants   are   added   to   the   class   list   on   a   first-come,   
first-served   basis   (Phase   2)   until   September   28,   2021.  

● Every   effort   is   made   to   accommodate   students   with   their   first   choice   site   
selection.   If   the   first   choice   site   has   already   been   filled   to   a   maximum   of   23   
students,   students   are   placed   in   the   lottery   at   their   second   and/or   third   choice   site   
(space   permitting).   Should   no   space   be   available   in   the   applicant’s   selected   sites,   
the   applicant   is   placed   on   a   waiting   list   at   one   of   their   chosen   sites.   

● Some   sites   are   considered   limited   enrolment   sites   and   may   not   be   able   to   
accommodate   out   of   area   students.   An   assessment   of   a   schools’   ability   to   handle   
out   of   area   enrolment   is   done   at   the   school   and   board-level.   These   sites   are   
marked   with   an   asterisk.   

   

Page   3   of   5   

38



Appendix   A   

Projected   2020-2021   Grade   1   French   Immersion   Enrolment   
  

Page   4   of   5   

School   Name   
#   

classes   
2021/22  

Total   
Class   
List   

Count  

Ph.   1   
Placed   
Home/   

Assigned   
School   
Count   

Ph.   1   
Placed   
Out   of   
Area   

Count  

Ph.   2   
Placed   
Count  

Home   
School   
Waiting   

List   
Count   

Out   of   
Area   

Waiting   
List   

Count   

Total   
Waiting   

List   

Abraham   Erb   PS   1   23   23   0     5   3   8   

Baden   PS   1   23   22   1     0   9   9   

Breslau   PS*   1   23   23   0     5   0   5   

Brigadoon   PS*   2   40   37   0   3   0   7   7   

Cedar   Creek   PS   1   21   16   5     0   0   0   

Chicopee   Hills   PS*   1   23   20   0   3   0   4   4   

Clemens   Mill   PS   1   20   16   2   2   0   0   0   

Crestview   PS   1   21   11   7   3   0   0   0   

Driftwood   Park   PS   2   38   32   6     0   0   0   

Edna   Staebler   PS   1   23   23   0     0   0   0   

Elgin   Street   PS   1   20   15   4   1   0   0   0   

Elizabeth   Ziegler   PS   2   46   36   10     0   2   2   

Empire   PS*   2   41   39   0   2   0   0   0   

Franklin   PS   2   46   34   12     0   1   1   

Groh   PS*   2   37   36   0   1   0   0   0   

Hespeler   PS*   1   23   23   0     3   5   8   

Highland   PS   2   46   34   10   2   0   0   0   

J   F   Carmichael   PS   1   20   18   2     0   0   0   

J   W   Gerth   PS   1   23   23   0     0   3   3   

Janet   Metcalfe   PS*   1   23   23   0     8   0   8   

Jean   Steckle   PS*   1   23   23   0     1   0   1   

John   Mahood   PS   1   16   13   3     0   0   0   

Keatsway   PS*   1   23   23   0     7   1   8   

Laurelwood   PS*   1   23   23   0     4   2   6   

Lester   B   Pearson   PS  1   23   23   0     0   2   2   

Mary   Johnston   PS   1   23   23   0     7   2   9   

Millen   Woods   PS   1   23   23   0     5   7   12   

39



Appendix   A   

  

Page   5   of   5   

Moffat   Creek   PS*   1   18   18   0     0   5   5   

N   A   MacEachern   PS  1   23   19   4     0   1   1   

Ryerson   PS   1   23   18   5     0   2   2   

Saginaw   PS   1   23   18   5     0   0   0   

Sandhills   PS   2   40   36   3   1   0   0   0   

Sandowne   PS   1   20   13   7     0   0   0   

Sheppard   PS   1   23   23   0     3   0   3   

Southridge   PS   1   18   10   7   1   0   0   0   

Suddaby   PS   1   23   23   0     10   0   10   

Tait   Street   PS*   1   23   21   0   2   0   0   0   

Vista   Hills   PS*   2   38   37   0   1   0   1   1   

W   T   Townshend   PS*  1   22   22   0     0   0   0   

Westmount   PS   1   23   23   0     7   0   7   

Westvale   PS   1   24   23   0   1   6   0   6   

Williamsburg   PS*   1   25   23   0   2   0   9   9   

TOTAL   51   1100   982   93   25   71   66   137   

40



  

Report   to   Board   
February   22,   2021   

Subject:   Cambridge   Joint-Use   Campus   Feasibility   Study   
Recommendation   
This   report   is   for   the   information   of   the   Board.  

Status   
The   purpose   of   the   Cambridge   Joint-Use   Campus   Feasibility   Study   was   to   explore   
conceptual   design   opportunities,   with   considerations   for   the   development   and   operation,   
of   a   Joint-Use   Facility/Campus   in   the   south   end   of   Cambridge;   and   to   explore   
integrating   the   facilities   to   maximize   community   benefits.   
The   Feasibility   Study,   attached,   finds   that   there   are   considerable   community   benefits   to   
be   realized   by   sharing   programs,   services   and   community   spaces   amongst   the   partners   
at   the   Joint-Use   Campus.   As   illustrated   in   the   Feasibility   Study   concept   plans,   there   are   
a   number   of   options   for   how   to   effectively   share   a   campus   and   facility,   all   with   unique   
benefits   and   challenges.   
The   recommendation   is   to   proceed   with   Concept   Four:   One   Campus,   Two   Separate   
Facilities.   This   concept   sees   two   schools,   operated   by   the   Waterloo   Region   District  
School   Board   (WRDSB),   and   the   Waterloo   Catholic   District   School   Board   (WCDSB),   
share   one   facility,   and   the   City   of   Cambridge   and   Idea   Exchange   share   another   facility.   
The   decision   to   proceed   with   separated   buildings   is   preferred   based   on   three   major   
factors:   (1)   capital   cost,   (2)   the   necessary   separation   of   elementary-aged   school   
children   from   public   use   buildings,   and   (3)   the   challenge   and   complexity   of   the   
development   of   a   Joint-use   Agreement   that   may   take   years   to   complete.   Furthermore,   
the   construction   schedule   for   a   consolidated   building   does   not   align   with   the   school   
boards’   need   to   deliver   much-needed   student   accommodation   in   the   area.     

Background   
The   potential   for   a   joint-use   community   hub   was   envisioned   by   the   partners   (City   of   
Cambridge,   the   WRDSB,   and   the   WCDSB)   in   the   late-1990s.   In   2007,   the   City   acquired   
a   32.5-acre   parcel   in   the   southeast   of   the   City   of   Cambridge.   The   Joint-Use   Campus   
(JUC)   is   to   include   a   recreation   complex,   public   library   branch,   and   two   elementary   
schools   and   one   child   care.   This   campus   includes   the   WRDSB’s   planned   new   
Cambridge   Joint-Use   Campus   JK-8   elementary   school.   On   November   21,   2016,   the   
WRDSB   received   funding   approval   for   the   construction   of   a   new   elementary   school   
comprising   519   pupil   places   and   5   child   care   rooms   in   Southeast   Cambridge.   In   March   
2020,   the   WCDSB   received   Ministry   approval   for   a   354   pupil   place   catholic   elementary   
school   on   the   Joint-Use   Campus.   

Page   1   of   2   

41



  

On   June   4,   2019,   the   City   of   Cambridge   (City)   approved   the   location   of   a   new   recreation   
complex   on   the   Joint-Use   Project   lands   owned   by   the   City   in   Southeast   Galt.   In   
February   2020,   the   City   approved   a   request   to   advance   the   Library   (Idea   Exchange)   in   
South   East   Galt   design   from   2022   to   2020   and   combine   the   project   budget   with   the   
Recreation   Complex.   
In   June   2020,   the   partners   signed   Memorandum   of   Understanding   (MOU)   to   establish   a   
relationship   between   Parties   for   the   Feasibility   Study   and   potential   subsequent   
development,   management,   operation,   and   use   of   the   Joint-Use   Community   Campus.   
CS&P   Architects   Inc.   was   retained   by   the   partners   in   August   2020   to   guide   the   staff-led   
Cambridge   JUC   Feasibility   Study   Steering   Committee   through   an   iterative   process   
where   several   concepts   were   developed.   WRDSB   staff   held   a   number   of   internal   
consultations   to   ensure   all   aspects   (instructional,   operational)   of   a   potential   joint-use   
project   were   considered   and   incorporated   into   the   outcome   of   the   Feasibility   Study.   

Financial   implications   
Site   development   costs,   estimated   at   approximately   $1M,   are   funded   through   Education   
Development   Charges   (EDCs).   EDCs   will   also   cover   the   WRDSB’s   proportionate   share   
of   land   acquisition.   Capital   construction   costs   are   expected   to   be   within   the   Ministry   of   
Education   benchmark   funding   approved   through   the   2016   Capital   Priorities   Grant   
($13.5M   total   project   cost).   Cost   savings   can   be   achieved   through   a   reduction   in   gross   
floor   area   over   the   benchmarks   in   the   space   program   by   sharing   a   facility   with   the   
WCDSB.   It   is   anticipated   that   there   will   be   an   opportunity   to   share   in   construction   costs   
for   outdoor   amenities   and   that   savings   could   be   invested   back   into   the   campus.   
Additional   costs   will   be   required   to   negotiate   and   establish   Agreements   (Development,   
Capital   Cost   Sharing   and   Joint-Use   Agreements).   
Consulting   fees   for   the   Feasibility   Study   are   shared   proportionately   amongst   the   three   
parties.   

Communications   
The   Feasibility   Study   was   shared   with   the   City   of   Cambridge   Council   on   February   18,   
2021,   the   WCDSB   Board   of   Trustees   on   February   22,   2021,   and   will   be   shared   with   the   
Idea   Exchange   Board   of   Trustees   on   February   24,   2021.   
Updates   regarding   the   status   of   the   WRDSB’s   Cambridge   JUC   elementary   school   will   
be   provided   in   the   Major   Capital   Projects   Quarterly   Update   reports.   

Prepared   by:   Matthew   Gerard,   Coordinating   Superintendent   Business   Services   and   
Treasurer   of   the   Board   
Lauren   Agar,   Manager   of   Planning   
Todd   McDougall,   Project   Coordinator   
in   consultation   with   Coordinating   Council   

Page   2   of   2   

42



Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study

City of Cambridge 
Idea Exchange
Waterloo Region District School Board
Waterloo Catholic District School Board

February 9, 2021

Artist’s Concept

43



1. INTRODUCTION 4

Partners and Program Components 5

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 6

3. VISION & GUIDING PRINCIPLES 10

Vision 11

Guiding Principles 11

4. SITE EVALUATION 12

Site Evaluation Summary 13

5. PROGRAM NEEDS & ANALYSIS 14

Program Components 15

City of Cambridge Recreation Complex 15

Idea Exchange (City of Cambridge Public Library) 15

WRDSB and WCDSB Elementary School Space Programs 16

Site Program Components 17

Parking and Drop-off 17

Bus Drop Off 17

Outdoor Play and Learning Environments 18

Portables and Future Additions 18

Garbage, Service and Receiving 18

Joint-Use Opportunities 20

Gymnasium/Fitness 21

Library Learning Spaces 21

Art/Science/Maker/Tech 21

Meeting Rooms 22

Mechanical 22

44



Parking/Drop-off/Service Area 22

Outdoor Play 22

Key Relationships 23

Space Program for Consolidated and Separate Buildings 24

6. SUSTAINABILITY 25

Sustainable Approach Summary 26

7. CONCEPTUAL PLANS 27

Consolidated Building Concept Plans 29

Separate Buildings Concept Plans 36

Engineering Design Briefs 41

Analysis 41

Preliminary Assessment Matrix 41

Concept 1 42

Concept 2 43

Concept 3 44

Concept 4 45

Concept 5 46

Order of Magnitude Cost Estimate Methodology 47

Construction Timelines 53

Potential Risks 54

Future Considerations 55

8. JOINT-USE AGREEMENTS 57

9. CONCLUSIONS 60

APPENDICES 65

45



1Introduction

46



 INTRODUCTION | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 5

INTRODUCTION
The purpose of this feasibility study is to examine and evaluate the opportunities for a 
joint-use campus shared by the City of Cambridge, Idea Exchange (Cambridge Public 
Library), Waterloo Region District School Board (the WRDSB), and Waterloo Catholic 
District School Board (the WCDSB). The study explores conceptual design approaches 
to the facilities and site, integrating the facilities to maximize community benefits. 
Results and recommendations from this study will assist City Council, and the Library 
Board and School Boards in decision making regarding this proposed community hub.

The potential for a joint-use community hub was envisioned by the partners in the 
late-1990s. The 1997 Southeast Galt Community Plan noted a general location for a 
joint campus, including two schools, a child care facility, public library, and community 
recreation facilities on a shared site. For this purpose, in 2007, the City acquired a 32.5-
acre parcel in the southeast of the City of Cambridge and the programming for the joint 
campus was expanded to include the community park for this neighbourhood. 

PARTNERS AND PROGRAM COMPONENTS

City of Cambridge Recreation Complex  
 ■ Gross floor area: 104,020 square feet 
 ■ Aquatics
 ■ Gymnasiums, multi-purpose rooms
 ■ Walking track
 ■ Storage, office and administrative space

Idea Exchange (City of Cambridge Public Library)
 ■ Gross floor area: 13,600 square feet
 ■ Spaces to provide access to library materials and services and to a variety of 

programs and events 
 ■ Reading, lounge, making and study spaces 
 ■ Internet and computer access

WRDSB Elementary School
 ■ Gross floor area: School – 53,240 square feet, Child Care – 8,500 square feet
 ■ 519 students in Junior Kindergarten to Grade 8
 ■ 5 room Child Care

WCDSB Elementary School
 ■ Gross floor area: 42,645 square feet
 ■ 354 students in Junior Kindergarten to Grade 8

47



2Executive
Summary

48



  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 7

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This Feasibility Study was conducted through a collaborative and interactive process, 
engaging the partners’ Steering Committee in a variety of interactive explorations to 
co-imagine a joint-use campus that not only meets the current and future needs of 
this Cambridge community, but most importantly creates a vibrant, inviting and multi-
generational community hub. These preliminary visioning sessions and meetings 
became the foundation for the agreed vision and guiding principles, which informed all 
decisions going forward. The development of a decision matrix for assessment of the 
site concepts referred back to this agreed unified vision.

Separate visioning and programming meetings were held with each of the four key 
partner/stakeholder groups. Each partner contributed their own vision and priorities 
which included specific program requirements, budgetary constraints, past experience 
with similar projects, and their excitement and possibly their trepidation going into a 
collaborative and negotiated joint project.

A detailed site analysis was undertaken to explore existing site conditions, zoning 
requirements, Grand River Conservation Authority (GRCA) wetland impacts, 
transportation issues, local development plans, and community connections.

The preliminary draft space needs assessment was explored and developed in detail to 
find synergies and joint-use opportunities between all users’ space programs.

The conceptual site options were built on the learnings and feedback from the research 
and analysis phase, including an examination of the opportunities and constraints of 
the site and program, and the benefits and challenges of a joint building or separate 
building approach to the campus. Five concepts were explored – three approaches to 
a single consolidated shared building: One Campus, One Facility, and two approaches 
to separate buildings sharing the site: One Campus, Separate Facilities. Functional and 
operational impacts were fully considered. An order of magnitude cost estimate was 
completed for each concept. 

The pros/cons/opportunities/challenges of each concept were assessed using defined 
criteria and with reference to the vision and principles established by the Steering 
Committee. 

The findings of this study conclude that the site is appropriate in size, location and 
characteristics to accommodate the proposed joint-use campus. Many joint-use 
sharing opportunities are available, e.g., parking and service areas; outdoor amenity 
and play areas; gymnasiums; multi-purpose rooms; specialty classrooms; and reading, 
lounge and study spaces. More than one approach to the campus can be successfully 
developed.

49



8 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The consulting team guided the committee through an iterative process where two 
preferred concepts were selected – one for a consolidated building and site; and one for 
two separate buildings sharing a campus. 

A detailed analysis was completed for the two preferred approaches, these are referred 
to in the report as – Consolidated Building Concept 2: One Campus, One Facility, 
L-shaped Plan and Separate Buildings Concept 4: One Campus, Two Separate Facilities. 

The recommended approach for a successful joint-use campus is to locate two 
separate building on the joint site: Concept 4: One Campus, Two Separate Facilities. 
The two schools share one facility. The Recreation Complex and Idea Exchange share 
the second facility. The two facilities frame a generous and welcoming community park 
facing Wesley Boulevard. The facilities can operate independently, but are designed and 
programmed to promote shared use of selected spaces both indoors and outdoors. 
When located in a separate building, on a more clearly defined site, the safety and 
security of the elementary school students, within the larger context of the campus, 
is better achieved. Separating the schools from the Recreation Complex and the Idea 
Exchange allows the partners to proceed with the design and construction at their own 
pace. The timeline for the design and construction of the Recreation Complex will be 
longer than for the schools.  This is an important consideration for the schools as the 
Ministry benchmark for capital costs for the schools’ construction does not allow for 
construction cost escalation. The longer the project is deferred the more difficult it will 
be to build the schools on budget. 

The order of magnitude estimate, detailed for all concepts, is based on the initial 
functional program and preliminary conceptual plans. The level of certainty, or potential 
cost variation, of this level of estimate is generally +/-15% to 20%. The estimated total 
project costs for Concept 4 are as follows:

WRDSB Elementary School  $ 13,892,000

Child Care    $ 2,651,000

WCDSB Elementary School  $ 11,857,000

Recreation Complex   $ 58,490,000

Idea Exchange    $ 6,245,000

Total Joint-use Complex  $ 93,135,000

50



  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 9

A framework for the development of shared-use and operational models (refer to 
Section 8) was developed in tandem with the concept designs. This is a creative 
exercise working with the specific design concepts looking for efficiencies and 
opportunities that allow for a variety of multiple use strategies - independent use and 
control by each partner; structured or scheduled use by various groups, or common use 
at all times.

This proposed joint-use campus will create a community hub offering educational, 
recreational and cultural activities for all ages in this rapidly developing Cambridge 
community. A shared approach provides better value for money for the community, and 
best utilization of all program spaces.

The conclusion of this Feasibility Study is that the proposed joint-use campus is 
achievable and provides tremendous benefits to each partner and to the community.

Artist’s Concept

51



3Vision & 
Guiding 

Principles

52



 VISION & GUIDING PRINCIPLES | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 11

VISION & GUIDING PRINCIPLES
VISION

The vision for this partnership is to provide a multi-generational community hub for 
the residents of Cambridge, with one-stop access to education, recreation and cultural 
amenities.  This project is a unique opportunity for all partners to enjoy more amenities 
and uses over what each partner would have if it was a stand-alone facility.

This commitment to shared use maximizes the benefits to the community and provides 
better value for each partner’s investment.

GUIDING PRINCIPLES

Create a vibrant, inviting and multi-generational community hub

Leverage sharing opportunities to maximize program synergies, to 
encourage the best utilization of space, and to reduce capital and 
operating costs for all parties

Showcase the main building activities, animating the streetscape 
and creating a distinct identity for each partner

Provide a safe and secure design, both indoors and out, that allows 
for both separation and sharing

Allow for flexibility of use and potential to grow and change over time

Maximize the use and amenity of open and green space on the site

Encourage active transportation by creating safe and inviting green 
connections to the neighbourhood

Incorporate sustainable initiatives that foster environmental 
responsibility; improve building performance and energy efficiency; 
and contribute to the health and well-being of the users

53



4Site 
Evaluation

54



 SITE EVALUATION | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 13

32.5 ACRES

26.3 ACRES

WETLAND BUFFER ZONE

WESLEY BOULEVARD

WETLAND LIMIT

PROPERTY LINE

LEGEND

PRIMARY 
ACCESS

WETLAND 
CONNECTION

SECONDARY 
ACCESS

MO
FF

AT
 C

RE
EK

SITE CONDITIONS SUMMARY

NEIGHBOURHOOD 
CONNECTION 

BRIDGE

SECONDARY 
ACCESS

FUTURE ACCESS
(RIGHT IN/ RIGHT 

OUT)

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

FA
IT

H 
ST

RE
ET

BA
ST

IE
N 

ST
RE

ET

MULTI-USE TRAIL

BIKE LANES

PROPOSED MULTI-USE TRAIL

RESIDENTIAL 

SITE AREA AVAILABLE
FOR DEVELOPMENT
CITY OWNED LANDS

N

SITE EVALUATION

SITE EVALUATION SUMMARY 

The 32.5 acre site of the future joint-use complex is located in the south-east end of 
Cambridge in the area known as Littles Corners, north of the intersection of Dundas 
Street South and Branchton Road. 

The site is bordered by Moffat Creek and a vegetated wetland buffer along its north-
western edge. At the east boundary of the site, there are plans for a future Regional 
Road (East Boundary Road). The primary access to the site is from the extension of 
Wesley Boulevard. Consisting of former hilly, agricultural lands, the site slopes north-
west towards Moffat Creek, with a difference in height of 14m from east to west. The 
developable site area is reduced by the wetland to the west and the road allowance to 
the east. The remaining site area available for development is approximately 26.3 acres. 

Significant growth is anticipated for the region – with future residential low to mid-rise 
subdivisions planned throughout the vicinity – the most notable of which are the South 
Point lands. It is estimated that once the area is fully developed, over 26,500 residents 
will be within a 15-minute walking  distance from  the  proposed  campus. 

New Multi-Use Trails and Bike Paths are planned to promote active transportation to, 
from and through the site, and an extension to the current nearby bus route is planned, 
running along Wesley Boulevard, with a new bus stop to serve the complex directly.  

Refer to Appendix A1 for a detailed Site Evaluation.

Site Location and Features (source: CS&P)

55



5Program & 
Needs Analysis

56



 PROGRAM & NEEDS ANALYSIS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 15

PROGRAM & NEEDS ANALYSIS
PROGRAM COMPONENTS
CITY OF CAMBRIDGE RECREATION COMPLEX  

The original Recreation Complex space program was developed in 2015 - prior to the 
decision to locate the facility at the joint-use campus.

The Net Functional Area of the Recreation Complex program totals 90,450 square feet. 
Net Functional Area describes the room-specific space program and refers to the usable 
or assignable square footage within a room or area (inside wall-to-wall dimensions).

Gross Floor Area (GFA) represents the overall footprint of a floor or building, 
respectively, and includes support spaces, washrooms, circulation, elevators, stairs, the 
space occupied by the building’s exterior walls, and major mechanical spaces.

The Recreation Complex program allocates a 15% gross up bringing the prescribed GFA 
to 104,020 square feet. 

The major components of the program include:
 ■ Aquatics 

 ▪ 25-metre pool
 ▪ Leisure/learning/therapy pool
 ▪ Pool change room facilities
 ▪ Pool office, storage and administrative space
 ▪ Spectator viewing

 ■ Dry Land 
 ▪ 3 FIBA (Fédération Internationale de Basketball) size gymnasia
 ▪ Indoor walking/running track
 ▪ Multi-use program rooms/meeting space
 ▪ Fitness studio
 ▪ Gymnasium/fitness Change rooms

 ■ Storage, office and administrative space

IDEA EXCHANGE (CITY OF CAMBRIDGE PUBLIC LIBRARY)

The Idea Exchange Net Functional Area totals 11,370 square feet. The program allocates 
a 16% gross up bringing the prescribed GFA to 13,600 square feet. 

The major components of the program include:
 ■ Spaces to provide access to library materials and services and to a variety of 

programs and events
 ■ Reading, lounge, making and study spaces
 ■ Internet and computer access

57



16 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | PROGRAM & NEEDS ANALYSIS

WRDSB AND WCDSB ELEMENTARY SCHOOL SPACE PROGRAMS

The Ontario Ministry of Education determines the space program and benchmark 
capital funding for new and replacement schools. The Ministry Space Template is used 
to determine the number and type of instructional areas and the required operational 
and circulation areas to be included in each school based on the expected student 
enrollment. The Space Template also allocates space for Community Use Rooms such 
as Child Care facilities.

WRDSB Elementary School

The WRDSB Elementary School Net Instructional and Operational Areas total 38,920 
square feet. The space program allocates a 37% gross up bringing the prescribed GFA 
to 53,240 square feet. An additional GFA of 8,500 square feet is allocated for the Child 
Care Facility.

The major components of the program include:
 ■ 519 students in Junior Kindergarten to Grade 8
 ■ 5 Kindergartens, 14 Classrooms, Art, Science, Special Education
 ■ Gymnasium, Library/Learning Commons
 ■ General Office, Staff, Custodial and support spaces
 ■ 5 room Child Care centre
 ■ Outdoor amenities, such as asphalt play area, soccer field, multi-use playing field, 

creative play structure, outdoor classroom
 ■ Space for up to 12 portables 

WCDSB Elementary School

The WCDSB Elementary School Net Instructional and Operational Areas total 30,905 
square feet. The space program allocates a 38% gross up bringing the prescribed GFA 
to 42,645 square feet.

The major components of the program include:
 ■ 354 students in Junior Kindergarten to Grade 8
 ■ 3 Kindergartens, 11 Classrooms, Art, Science, Special Education
 ■ Gymnasium, Library/Learning Commons
 ■ General Office, Staff, Custodial and support spaces
 ■ Outdoor amenities, such as asphalt play area
 ■ Space for up to 6 portables

58



 PROGRAM & NEEDS ANALYSIS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 17

SITE PROGRAM COMPONENTS

PARKING AND DROP-OFF

The preliminary space program, developed by the City and joint-use partners, noted a 
requirement for 552 parking spaces (80 WRDSB and Child Care, 75 WCDSB, 375 Rec 
Centre, 22 Idea Exchange). The peak parking demand is projected to be between 8:00 
to 9:00 am on weekdays.

The City of Cambridge encourages active transportation and has provided for bike 
lanes and a safe off-street multi-use trail servicing this site. Grand River Transit plans 
to extend its local bus route to this site. The Wesley Boulevard road profile includes 
parking on the north side of the road - estimated at about 40 spaces (this number will 
be reduced slightly by the proposed bus stop). These initiatives will reduce the overall 
parking demand on the site. Based on the above, 500 parking spaces are included in 
the site fit assessment and conceptual plans. In the separated buildings concepts the 
full number of school related spaces are located adjacent to the schools. The parking 
spot savings are realized in the parking lot adjacent to the Recreation Complex and Idea 
Exchange building. 

Parking requirements should be confirmed with a parking demand study as the project 
moves into detailed design.

Limited parent drop-off for the schools will be provided on site. Kindergarten, child care 
and barrier-free drop-off require park and drop provisions close to the facility entrances. 
All other parent drop-off will be accommodated on Wesley Boulevard, with safe access 
provided to the school play yard. Convenient drop-off and additional barrier-free parking 
spaces will be provided for the Recreation Complex and Idea Exchange users, requiring 
enhanced accessibility.

BUS DROP-OFF

Based on enrollment projections and potential catchment areas for the schools, both 
School Boards anticipate the requirement for four full size school buses each. Bell times 
for the schools may be staggered to reduce the need to provide a bus drop-off zone 
with a capacity for all eight buses. In addition, WCDSB and WRDSB may explore shared 
busing. This practice already occurs in other jurisdictions, and could be done here. 
However, to future-proof the school site and allow flexibility for scheduling, a bus drop-
off for eight buses, shared by the two schools, is shown on the concept plans.

Special education vehicles will have a different loading and unloading location, close to 
the school entrance, for safety and accessibility.

59



18 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | PROGRAM & NEEDS ANALYSIS

OUTDOOR PLAY AND LEARNING ENVIRONMENTS 

The schools each require both hard surface and soft (sodded) play areas. Hard surface 
play and play fields are exclusive and shared use for the schools only during the school 
day. School playgrounds are generally fenced for security and the safety of the students. 
Outdoor classroom spaces and provision of space for play structures are required by 
both Boards. The wetland area, running along Moffatt Creek, on the west side of the 
site, provide an opportunity for exploration and naturalized play. Care is needed to avoid 
supervision issues related to multiple school populations in the playground.

Each school will have its own Kindergarten play area, which will be fenced and 
connected directly to the Kindergarten classrooms. The Child Care outdoor play is 
fenced and connected directly to the Child Care playrooms. The required area of outdoor 
play for the Child Care is regulated by the Child Care and Early Years Act.

Outdoor amenities for the Recreation Complex and Idea Exchange include shared 
outdoor basketball nets, small games areas, play structures, passive outdoor play, 
outdoor classrooms/reading gardens, interactive public art, and provisions for future 
tennis courts where possible. These City outdoor amenities will be funded through a 
separate City project.

Additional program elements to create a welcoming community hub include a 
community park located on Wesley Boulevard, and a multi-use trail, connected to the 
City bike path and trail system and circumnavigating the site.

PORTABLES AND FUTURE ADDITIONS

Both School Boards require provisions for future portables (WRDSB - 12 portables, 
WCDSB - 6 portables) and space for future permanent additions to each school. 
Portables will be located on the hard surface play area in proximity to school exit doors.

GARBAGE AND RECEIVING

Garbage, service and receiving areas are required for all users. Day-to-day deliveries to 
the site will not require a loading dock accommodating full size transport trucks. Daily 
book delivery and pick-up must be accommodated for the Idea Exchange. Garbage 
and recycling will be picked-up on a regular schedule. Garbage storage rooms can be 
minimized if inground/underground garbage storage containers are used. The swimming 
pool requires conveniently located and regular service deliveries for pool chemicals.

The site and building components are illustrated in the following diagrams.

60



PROGRAM & NEEDS ANALYSIS |  Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 19

PROGRAM COMPONENTS

104,020 sf 13,600 sf

13,600 sf

61



20 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | PROGRAM & NEEDS ANALYSIS

JOINT-USE OPPORTUNITIES

The overall planning and programming for this joint-use campus must have inherent 
adaptability so that the buildings and site will be able to make adjustments to changing 
program needs over time. The concept designs include creating environments that 
can grow into more fluid sharing as the partners learn to use their new facilities and 
become more comfortable with the possibilities. The designs look for efficiencies and 
strategies that allow for multiple use opportunities - independent use and control by 
each partner; structured or scheduled use by various groups; or common use at all 
times. If sharing opportunities create learning opportunities and add value there is a 
strong rationale for proceeding with a joint-use campus.

The concept designs should reflect safety/security and identity needs of each partner, 
while allowing flexibility to ‘grow into’ or expand sharing opportunities over time.

Programming and sharing decisions will lead to the development of Joint-use and 
Operational Agreements. This is both a legal and a creative exercise - developed in 
tandem with the facility design.

Space Program

MULTI-
PURPOSE

ROOM

LOUNGE SEATING &

62



 PROGRAM & NEEDS ANALYSIS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 21

Spaces to support before and after school programming should be carefully considered 
as all partners offer school-age programs. In addition, there is a potential challenge 
regarding duplication of services offered by Recreation and Culture through the 
Recreation Complex and the Idea Exchange. Program spaces should have inherent 
flexibility to support both arts/cultural and recreational programming.  This will provide 
the opportunity for the partners to differentiate their offerings to the community. The 
Joint-use Agreement should address these issues.

The development of a consolidated space program finds opportunities for maximizing 
utilization of space, finding synergies between program components, and reducing 
overall floor areas (and therefore cost) through sharing and placement strategies. The 
following spaces were considered for potential joint-use by the partners:

GYMNASIUM/FITNESS
 ■ Two Recreation Complex gyms are fully utilized all day
 ■ School gyms are exclusive use during school hours
 ■ School gyms are available to Recreation Complex community for gym and fitness 

programming after hours

Proposed Program Changes:
 ■ Reduce number of full-size gyms programmed for the combined joint-use campus 

(3 City, 1 WRDSB, 1 WCDSB) from five to four
 ■ Recreation Complex contributes floor area to increase WRDSB gym to larger 

sized FIBA size gym
 ■ Provide one shared stage between the two school gyms using portion of WRDSB 

gym area and portion of WCDSB flex area

LIBRARY LEARNING SPACES
 ■ Idea Exchange program includes a 1,800 square feet Lounge Seating and 

Learning Commons area which is accessible to students during the school day

Proposed program changes:
 ■ Reduce both schools’ Library floor area designated to general study

ART/SCIENCE/MAKER/TECH
 ■ Idea Exchange has designated two spaces for exclusive use by the schools during 

school hours – a large Multi-purpose room at 750 square feet and a Makerspace 
at 580 square feet

 ■ Both school programs include an art room and a science room
 ■ Four art and science rooms are required for the joint-use campus to meet the 

pupil loading/capacity requirement of each school

63



22 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | PROGRAM & NEEDS ANALYSIS

Proposed program changes:
 ■ Increase the floor area of the Idea Exchange Maker space and Multi-purpose 

room to meet the area requirements for art and science rooms (with floor area 
contributions from both Boards)

 ■ WRDSB to build one science room (including tech space), which will be shared 
with WCDSB, and delete one art room from its program

 ■ WCDSB to contribute one art room, which will be shared with WRDSB, and 
delete one science room from its program

 ■ Both Boards will have access to the Idea Exchange rooms for art and science 
programming to replace the two deleted rooms

MEETING ROOMS
 ■ Combining and co-locating meeting rooms will result in synergies and potential 

floor area reductions

MECHANICAL
 ■ A typical indoor central mechanical plant for a building of this scale is 

approximately 4% of the GFA (not including pool mechanical)
 ■ Sharing of central plant requires the School Boards’ agreement on operational 

issues
 ■ Assuming a shared central mechanical plant, the total area required floor area for 

mechanical space is 10,235 square feet

PARKING/DROP-OFF/SERVICE AREAS
 ■ Number of parking spaces to be right-sized for time-of-day use
 ■ Sharing of main school bus drop area was considered, relies on staggered bell-

times
 ■ Active transportation is encouraged by all users
 ■ On site drop-off required for:

 ▪ Accessibility requirements
 ▪ Park and drop for child care and kindergartens
 ▪ Limited convenience drop-off for other users

 ■ Sharing of garbage, loading and receiving will be determined by site plan 
configuration, as well as ease of access for users.

 ■ If shared, location of garbage needs to be in a central and convenient location for 
all users

OUTDOOR PLAY
 ■ Kindergarten and Child Care play areas are exclusive use
 ■ All other outdoor play areas are available for community use after-hours and 

should be located for passive surveillance
 ■ School sharing of hard surface play and play fields relies on scheduling of bell- 

times and nutrition/recess/lunch breaks

64



 PROGRAM & NEEDS ANALYSIS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 23

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

COMMONS

KINDERGARTEN

ADMIN/ ENTRY

CLASS/ 
MAKER

ART SCIENCE/ 
TECH

LEARNING 
COMMONS

LIBRARY LIBRARY

MULTI-PURPOSE

FLEX/ MEET GENERAL
PURPOSE

MEET

GYMNASIUM/ FITNESS

GYM

GYM GYMSTAGE

GYM STUDIO

ENTRY

WALK BY TRAFFIC MULTI-PURPOSE/ MEETING LIBRARY

STEAM SHARED ENTRY/ ADMIN CHILD CARE/ BEFORE & AFTER FLEX CLASSROOMS

POOLS

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

COMMONS

KINDERGARTEN

ADMIN/ ENTRY

CLASS/ 
MAKER

ART SCIENCE/ 
TECH

LEARNING 
COMMONS

LIBRARY LIBRARY

MULTI-PURPOSE

FLEX/ MEET GENERAL
PURPOSE

MEET

GYMNASIUM/ FITNESS

GYM

GYM GYMSTAGE

GYM STUDIO

ENTRY

WALK BY TRAFFIC MULTI-PURPOSE/ MEETING LIBRARY

STEAM SHARED ENTRY/ ADMIN CHILD CARE/ BEFORE & AFTER FLEX CLASSROOMS

POOLS

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

COMMONS

KINDERGARTEN

ADMIN/ ENTRY

CLASS/ 
MAKER

ART SCIENCE/ 
TECH

LEARNING 
COMMONS

LIBRARY LIBRARY

MULTI-PURPOSE

FLEX/ MEET GENERAL
PURPOSE

MEET

GYMNASIUM/ FITNESS

GYM

GYM GYMSTAGE

GYM STUDIO

ENTRY

WALK BY TRAFFIC MULTI-PURPOSE/ MEETING LIBRARY

STEAM SHARED ENTRY/ ADMIN CHILD CARE/ BEFORE & AFTER FLEX CLASSROOMS

POOLS

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

COMMONS

KINDERGARTEN

ADMIN/ ENTRY

CLASS/ 
MAKER

ART SCIENCE/ 
TECH

LEARNING 
COMMONS

LIBRARY LIBRARY

MULTI-PURPOSE

FLEX/ MEET GENERAL
PURPOSE

MEET

GYMNASIUM/ FITNESS

GYM

GYM GYMSTAGE

GYM STUDIO

ENTRY

WALK BY TRAFFIC MULTI-PURPOSE/ MEETING LIBRARY

STEAM SHARED ENTRY/ ADMIN CHILD CARE/ BEFORE & AFTER FLEX CLASSROOMS

POOLS

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

COMMONS

KINDERGARTEN

ADMIN/ ENTRY

CLASS/ 
MAKER

ART SCIENCE/ 
TECH

LEARNING 
COMMONS

LIBRARY LIBRARY

MULTI-PURPOSE

FLEX/ MEET GENERAL
PURPOSE

MEET

GYMNASIUM/ FITNESS

GYM

GYM GYMSTAGE

GYM STUDIO

ENTRY

WALK BY TRAFFIC MULTI-PURPOSE/ MEETING LIBRARY

STEAM SHARED ENTRY/ ADMIN CHILD CARE/ BEFORE & AFTER FLEX CLASSROOMS

POOLS

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

COMMONS

KINDERGARTEN

ADMIN/ ENTRY

CLASS/ 
MAKER

ART SCIENCE/ 
TECH

LEARNING 
COMMONS

LIBRARY LIBRARY

MULTI-PURPOSE

FLEX/ MEET GENERAL
PURPOSE

MEET

GYMNASIUM/ FITNESS

GYM

GYM GYMSTAGE

GYM STUDIO

ENTRY

WALK BY TRAFFIC MULTI-PURPOSE/ MEETING LIBRARY

STEAM SHARED ENTRY/ ADMIN CHILD CARE/ BEFORE & AFTER FLEX CLASSROOMS

POOLS

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

COMMONS

KINDERGARTEN

ADMIN/ ENTRY

CLASS/ 
MAKER

ART SCIENCE/ 
TECH

LEARNING 
COMMONS

LIBRARY LIBRARY

MULTI-PURPOSE

FLEX/ MEET GENERAL
PURPOSE

MEET

GYMNASIUM/ FITNESS

GYM

GYM GYMSTAGE

GYM STUDIO

ENTRY

WALK BY TRAFFIC MULTI-PURPOSE/ MEETING LIBRARY

STEAM SHARED ENTRY/ ADMIN CHILD CARE/ BEFORE & AFTER FLEX CLASSROOMS

POOLS

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

COMMONS

KINDERGARTEN

ADMIN/ ENTRY

CLASS/ 
MAKER

ART SCIENCE/ 
TECH

LEARNING 
COMMONS

LIBRARY LIBRARY

MULTI-PURPOSE

FLEX/ MEET GENERAL
PURPOSE

MEET

GYMNASIUM/ FITNESS

GYM

GYM GYMSTAGE

GYM STUDIO

ENTRY

WALK BY TRAFFIC MULTI-PURPOSE/ MEETING LIBRARY

STEAM SHARED ENTRY/ ADMIN CHILD CARE/ BEFORE & AFTER FLEX CLASSROOMS

POOLS

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

Key relationships required to accommodate the agreed joint-use opportunities create 
the framework for the development of the concept plans. The following diagrams 
illustrate desired adjacencies and synergies that will promote sharing.

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

COMMONS

KINDERGARTEN

ADMIN/ ENTRY

CLASS/ 
MAKER

ART SCIENCE/ 
TECH

LEARNING 
COMMONS

LIBRARY LIBRARY

MULTI-PURPOSE

FLEX/ MEET GENERAL
PURPOSE

MEET

GYMNASIUM/ FITNESS

GYM

GYM GYMSTAGE

GYM STUDIO

ENTRY

WALK BY TRAFFIC MULTI-PURPOSE/ MEETING LIBRARY

STEAM SHARED ENTRY/ ADMIN CHILD CARE/ BEFORE & AFTER FLEX CLASSROOMS

POOLS 65



24 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | PROGRAM & NEEDS ANALYSIS

SPACE PROGRAM FOR CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE BUILDINGS

Three Space Programs were developed using the City’s original Recreation Complex 
and Idea Exchange programs, and Ministry of Education’s Space Template for the 
schools as a framework. Each program shows the original program and area allocations, 
the proposed program, and resulting changes to each partner’s floor area. Sharing of 
outdoor amenity spaces remains achievable in all approaches to the building space 
program.

The Consolidated Building Space Template: One Campus, One Facility incorporated 
all of the potential opportunities for joint-use and sharing. This space program results 
in the most significant potential floor area reductions for all users. The target area 
reductions, for the total joint-use campus, are approximately 7,300  square feet over 
the original space program. The development of site concepts based on the proposed 
program modifications will confirm whether these area reductions are actually 
achievable.

The Separate Buildings Space Template: One Campus, Two Separate Facilities 
outlines a space  program for a campus plan for two separate buildings on the site. 
The City components (Recreation Complex and Idea Exchange) share one building. 
The two schools share the second building. The floor area reductions resulting from 
joint-use and sharing of program spaces are more limited. The third gym is required to 
be built in the Recreation Complex, as access to the school gym presents security and 
convenience challenges. Additional science and art rooms are required in the schools, 
as the Idea Exchange multi-purpose room and makerspace are similarly challenging for 
regular school day use. Sharing of services spaces and a central mechanical plant are 
also unachievable. This program results in modest floor area reductions for the shared 
schools. The target area reductions, for the combined schools, is approximately 1,000 
square feet over the original space program.

The second Separate Buildings Space Template: One Campus, Three Separate 
Facilities, outlines a space program for a campus plan for three separate buildings on 
the site. The City components share one building. The two schools each occupy their 
own building. There are no floor area reductions resulting from joint-use and sharing of 
program spaces. In addition to the program changes noted above, the schools also lose 
the opportunities for day-to-day sharing of spaces. The shared stage between the gyms 
is no longer available; and each school must build its own general office, library, science 
and art rooms, and mechanical and service spaces.

Refer to the Appendix A3 for detailed Space Programs for Consolidated and Separate 
Buildings.

66



6Sustainability

67



26 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | SUSTAINABILITY

SUSTAINABILITY

SUSTAINABLE APPROACH SUMMARY

The sustainability response should be evaluated against the balancing of complex 
parameters including environmental responsibility, energy efficiency, and creating 
a healthy environment that contributes to user well-being. Evaluating associated 
construction cost premiums, as well as the ability to optimize cost of ownership over 
the life cycle, will be a fundamental metric. As energy use has the greatest impact on 
operating costs, the assistance of rating system criteria that can help reduce energy 
use and associated greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions may be prioritized.

To support the creation of a healthy and sustainable communities, the City of 
Cambridge has mandated all new municipal buildings meet LEED Gold Standards. This 
is achievable in the Separated Building Concepts. In the Consolidated Building Concepts 
achieving LEED would be more complex for the City components of the facility. 
Although Ministry funding benchmarks limit pursuing LEED certification for the schools, 
new schools are designed and built to a high level of sustainability. The Ontario Building 
Code requirements result in building envelope (cladding) design and mechanical 
systems that are highly energy efficient; and Site Plan Approval requirements include 
many storm water management and other site provisions that align with many of the 
LEED requirements that the City components will be pursuing.

A practical approach which prioritizes Passive House high performance envelope 
principles and air quality, together with targeted renewables such as geothermal and 
photovoltaic (solar panels), may have the greatest impact in both reducing energy, 
significantly lowering GHG emissions, and promoting a healthy and energy efficient 
facility. This approach would be suitable for both consolidated and separated design 
options. 

In the next stage of detailed design, it is recommended that energy modeling and an 
associated financial analysis that can demonstrate a reasonable business case can 
be prepared. This business case can include premium capital costs associated with 
the energy saving measures, as well as payback and savings over time. A detailed 
geothermal feasibility study, together with site testing, should be included in this 
scope. This work should optimally be done as a formalized Sustainability Study in the 
Schematic Design period of the next phase of design.

Refer to Appendix A2 for detailed commentary on sustainability strategies.

68



7Conceptual 
Plans

69



28 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | CONCEPTUAL PLANS

CONCEPTUAL PLANS

The development of all conceptual plans for the two approaches to the joint-use 
campus, consolidated and separate, were based on the Guiding Principles, the agreed 
key relationships, and the following building and site design criteria:

 ■ A Ground Floor location is preferred for the following program components:
 ▪ School - general office, kindergartens, special education classrooms, gymnasiums
 ▪ Child Care – all program areas
 ▪ Recreation Complex - lobby/reception, swimming pool and associated change 
rooms, gymnasiums and associated change rooms

 ▪ Idea Exchange – all program areas
 ▪ Garbage and receiving for all parties

 ■ A generous welcoming entrance and a central internal circulation system, that 
acts as a “main street” , highlights the major building components, creating 
excitement and synergies between uses

 ■ The swimming pool and Idea Exchange are the key identifiers of the City facility, 
with a prominent face to the community, visible from Wesley Boulevard

 ■ The schools have distinct identity and entrances to the exterior that provide safe 
and secure access for walkers, cyclists and people arriving by car, school bus or 
transit

 ■ Schools are located adjacent to the wetland area, the more naturalized and quiet 
part of the site

 ■ Recreation Complex and its larger parking component are located on the east 
side of the site, with the bulk of the parking adjacent to the busier future East 
Boundary Road and associated roundabout.

70



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 29

CONSOLIDATED BUILDING CONCEPT PLANS: ONE CAMPUS, ONE FACILITY

The consolidated conceptual designs result in a compact footprint for the building, 
maximizing the open and greenspace accessible to the surrounding community. In 
each of the three consolidated concepts, there is a main building entrance that provides 
access to all facilities. In addition, the schools have a main entrance or “front door” to 
the street. In all consolidated concepts the school internal circulation is designed to 
operate independently of the Recreation Complex/Idea Exchange to ensure the safety 
and security of the school population. Physical and visual connections are provided 
between all uses to allow sharing when and where desired. Where possible each 
school’s circulation is separated from the other.

The consolidated concepts maximize the opportunity for planned and serendipitous 
sharing of facilities. Building operations and maintenance are more efficient than stand-
alone buildings.  Although potential area reductions were targeted in the space 
program, these were not achievable due to additional required circulation, low 
gross-up and plan configurations required to bring daylight into the facility.  

Construction phasing opportunities to accelerate the occupancy of any of the partners’ 
facilities are limited.

71



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS |  Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 30

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

BUS DROP OFF

ON STREET PARKING & DROP OFF 

K PLAY K PLAY

CC PLAY CHILD CARE

OUTDOOR 
CLASSROOM

FUTURE TENNIS 
COURTS

MULTI USE
TRAIL

SHARD COURTS

FUTURE PORTABLES

WR CH CH CH CH

CHCH

SERVICE

CHCH

C5

C4

C3

WRC2C1C3

K5

CH
AP

EL

K4K3 K3K2 K2K1 K1

C2C1 SPEC ED

REC 
ADMIN

SPEC ED

SHARED 
LIBRARY

SHARED 
OFFICE

IDEA EXCHANGE

COURTYARD

RECEIVING
/ST ST ST

FAMILY
 CH 1

FAMILY
 CH 2

FAMILY
 CH 3

AQ
 S

TA
FF

SERV

STAGE

 DROP OFF

 DROP OFF

ASPHALT 
PLAY

SOD PLAY 
FIELD

SERVICE

SHARED 
GARDEN

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

SCHOOL COMMONS

REC COMMONS

0m 20m10m

N

50m

SHARED 
SCHOOLS

CONCEPT 1 - GROUND

CONSOLIDATED BUILDING CONCEPT PLANS
CONCEPT 1: One Campus, One Facility, L−shaped Plan
Site Plan I Ground Floor Plan

CONCEPT 1
 ■ L-shaped plan with all main entrances for all 

partners addressing Wesley Boulevard
 ■ Lowest overall GFA of all concepts 
 ■ Outdoor play and amenity areas shared 

between all users on an agreed schedule
 ■ Clearly separated parking and drop-off for 

School Board and City components, which 
may be shared as per agreement

 ■ Limited visibility and access to playground and 
outdoor open space from the street

 ■ Entrance to City facilities creates a “main 
street” highlighting key activities

 ■ Clear separation between City and School 
Board components

 ■ Limited visibility and access to schools from 
“main street”

 ■ School circulation is clearly separated for each 
Board

 ■ School wraps around a courtyard ensuring 
daylight in all teaching spaces

 ■ Total Joint-use Complex:    
 ■ GFA: 217,880 square feet   
 ■ Estimated Total Project Cost: $ 92,393,000

72



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS |  Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 31

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

COURTYARD BELOW

OPEN TO
 BELOW

OPEN TO
 BELOW

OPEN TO
 BELOW

OP
EN

 T
O 

 B
EL

OW

OPEN TO
 BELOW

ST

ROOF

ROOF

STAFF STAFF

MECH

MECH

MP RM
SMALL FITNESS

MP RM 
LARGE

MP RM 
MED

STORC14 C13 C12 C11

C6 C5 C4 C6 C7

C10 C11

C8 C9

C10 C9

SCI ART

WR WR

C8 C7

ROOF

0m 20m10m 50m

CONCEPT 1 - 2ND

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

SCHOOL COMMONS

REC COMMONS

N

SHARED 
SCHOOLS

CONSOLIDATED BUILDING CONCEPT PLANS
CONCEPT 1: One Campus, One Facility, L−shaped Plan
Second Floor Plan

73



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS |  Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 32

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

 DROP OFF

CC PLAY

K PLAY

CHILD CARE

IDEA 
EXCHANGE

SHARED 
OFFICE STAFF

K1 K2 K3

K1 K2 K3

K4

K5

C1

C2

C3 STAGE

C4

C5 C6 C7 C8 C9 CH CH

CH ST

CH

CH

REC ADMIN

AQ STAFF

FAMILY 
CH 1

FAMILY 
CH 2

FAMILY 
CH 3

CH CH ST

CUST

ST

ST
C1

WR

WR ST

WR

GP

CHAPEL

SPEC 
ED

SPEC 
ED

K PLAY

COURTYARD

SERVICE, GARBAGE, 
ST & MECH

SHARED COURTS

FUTURE 
TENNIS COURTS

FUTURE PORTABLES

FUTURE PORTABLES

OUTDOOR CLASSROOM

OUTDOOR 
CLASSROOM

 D
RO

P 
OF

F

 BUS DROP OFF

ASPHALT 
PLAY

SERVICE

SOD PLAY 
FIELD

MULTI USE
TRAIL

ON STREET PARKING & DROP OFF 

0m 20m10m 50m

CONCEPT 2 - GROUND

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

SCHOOL COMMONS

REC COMMONS

N

SHARED 
SCHOOLS

CONSOLIDATED BUILDING CONCEPT PLANS
CONCEPT 2: One Campus, One Facility, Block Plan
Site Plan I Ground Floor Plan

CONCEPT 2
 ■ Block shaped plan with main entrance for City 

components addressing Wesley Boulevard and 
main shared School Board entry facing west to 
the school playground

 ■ Most compact ground-floor footprint of all 
concepts

 ■ Outdoor play and amenity areas shared 
between all users on an agreed schedule

 ■ Clearly separated parking and drop-off for 
School Board and City components, which may 
be shared as per agreement

 ■ Maximizes visibility and access to playground 
and outdoor open space from the street

 ■ Entrance to City facilities creates a “main 
street” highlighting all partners’ key activities

 ■ Central courtyard brings daylight into the 
centre of a dense plan

 ■ Clear separation between City and School 
Board components

 ■ School circulation is clearly separated for each 
Board

 ■ C-shaped school wings frame kindergarten play 
areas and ensure daylight in all teaching spaces

 ■ Total Joint-use Complex:
 ■ GFA: 229,144 square feet
 ■ Estimated Total Project Cost: $ 96,076,000 

74



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS |  Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 33

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

C7

C8 C9

C10

C6 C11

C5 C12

C4 C13

C3

C2

SCI

CH CH CH

ART

MP RM
MED

OPEN VIEWING

FITNESS

SEATING BELOW

MP RM
LARGE

MP RM
SMALL

SHARED 
LIBRARY

OPEN TO 
BELOW

OPEN TO 
BELOW

OPEN TO 
BELOW

OPEN TO 
BELOW

COURTYARD 
BELOW

STAFF

C10

C11

WR

WR MECH

MECH

ROOF

ROOF

ROOF

ROOF ROOF

WR

C14

CONCEPT 2 - 2ND

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

SCHOOL COMMONS

REC COMMONS

N

SHARED 
SCHOOLS

0m 20m10m 50m

CONSOLIDATED BUILDING CONCEPT PLANS
CONCEPT 2: One Campus, One Facility, Block Plan
Second Floor Plan

75



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS |  Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 34

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

ASPHALT 
PLAY

SERVICE

COMMUNITY 
PARK

SOD 
PLAY 
FIELD

OUTDOOR
CLASSROOM

OUTDOOR
CLASSROOM

SERVICE K1

K1

C8
C7

C6

C1

C2

C3
C1

C2

C3

C5

C4

WR

WR

ST

IDEA 

EXCHANGE

MEETING ROOMS

CH

CH

CH

CH

ST STAGE

AQ STAFF

ST
RECADMIN

FAMILY CHANGE

GP

CHAPEL

SHARED OFFICE

CHILD CARE

SPEC ED

K2

K2

K3

K3
K4

K5

FUTURE
PORTABLES

FUTURE
TENNIS COURTS

CC
PLAY

K
PLAY

SHARED
GARDEN

K
PLAY

SHARED 
COURTS

ON STREET PARKING & DROP OFF

BUS DROP OFF

FUTURE
PORTABLES

DROP OFF

MULTI USE
TRAIL

0m 20m10m 50m

CONCEPT 3 - GROUND

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

SCHOOL COMMONS

REC COMMONS

N

SHARED 
SCHOOLS

CONSOLIDATED BUILDING CONCEPT PLANS
CONCEPT 3: One Campus, One Facility, Linear Plan
Site Plan I Ground Floor Plan

CONCEPT 3
 ■ Linear plan located on east portion of the site 

running parallel to the future East Boundary 
Road with all main entrances addressing East 
Boundary Road

 ■ Outdoor play and amenity areas shared 
between all users on an agreed schedule

 ■ Combined parking and drop-off for School 
Board and City components

 ■ Separate bus loop for schools
 ■ Conceptualized as a building pavilion in a park, 

maximizing visibility and access to playground 
and outdoor open space from the street

 ■ A linear “main street” highlights all partners’ 
key activities

 ■ Clear separation between City and School 
Board components, except school gymnasiums 
are located within the City section of the 
facility

 ■ School circulation is clearly separated for each 
Board

 ■ C-shaped school wings ensure daylight in all 
teaching spaces

 ■ Recreation Complex gymnasiums are located 
on the second floor, over the Idea Exchange

 ■ Total Joint-use Complex: 
 ■ GFA: 224,213 square feet
 ■ Estimated Total Project Cost: $ 94,077,000 

76



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS |  Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 35

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

FITNESS

ROOF

ROOF

MECH

ST

OPEN TO 

BELOW

OPEN TO 

BELOW

OPEN TO 

BELOW

OPEN TO 

BELOW

CH
CH

CH
ROOF

ROOF

C4

C5

C6

C7
C8

C9

C10

C9

C10

C11

C11

C12

C13

C14
SCIENCE

ART

MECH

SHARED 
LIBRARY

WR

WR

WR

WR

ST
AF

F

ST
AF

F

CONCEPT 3 - 2ND

0m 20m10m 50m

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

SCHOOL COMMONS

REC COMMONS

N

SHARED 
SCHOOLS

CONSOLIDATED BUILDING CONCEPT PLANS
CONCEPT 3: One Campus, One Facility, Linear Plan
Second Floor Plan

77



36 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | CONCEPTUAL PLANS

SEPARATE BUILDINGS CONCEPT PLANS: ONE CAMPUS, SEPARATE FACILITIES

The separate buildings conceptual designs allow for the two or three separate facilities 
to share the campus.

The facilities can operate independently, but are still designed and programmed to 
promote shared use of selected spaces both indoors and outdoors. The gross floor 
area reductions achieved in the consolidated building concepts cannot be achieved. The 
Recreation Complex will require its own third gymnasium in lieu of convenient time-of- 
day access to the WRDSB gymnasium. The schools will be required to build additional 
art and science classrooms in lieu if the dedicated classroom and maker space shared 
with the Idea Exchange in the consolidated concepts. Opportunities for joint-use and 
sharing with the Recreation Complex and Idea Exchange are maximized with the multi-
purpose room and the makerspace. Sharing of building services and support spaces, 
and the associated savings in operations and maintenance costs, are also reduced.

Urban design benefits of separated buildings include distinct identity and addresses 
for each partner, and smaller building volumes more in keeping with the scale of the 
surrounding neighbourhood. When located in a separate building, on a more clearly 
defined site, the safety and security of the elementary school students, within the 
larger context of the campus, is better achieved. Separating the schools from the 
Recreation Complex and the Idea Exchange allows the partners to proceed with the 
design and construction at their own pace.

If the lands are severed between the City Components and the School Boards, 
each site would be required to meet zoning and municipal approvals requirements 
independently. If the campus remains as one property, then these approvals will be 
required for the entire site as a whole. However, the school design and construction 
could be fast-tracked for earlier occupancy.

78



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS |  Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 37

K PLAY

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

ASPHALT 
PLAY SERVICE

SOD PLAY 
FIELD

COMMUNITY 
PARK

K 
PLAY

K 
PLAY

CC
PLAY

CHILD 
CARE

WR

WR

WR

K1

K1

K2

K3

C1

C2

C3

C4

SPEC ED

CHAPEL

REC 
ADMIN

FAMILY 
CH 1

AQ 
STAFF/

ST

FAMILY 
CH 2

FAMILY 
CH 3

K2

K3

K4

K5

CH

CH CH

CHST

STST ST

ST

STAGE

COURTYARD

SHARED 
LIBRARY

SHARED 
OFFICE

IDEA EXCHANGE

FITNESS 
CHWR SERVICE

SERVICE SERVICE

SPEC ED

BUS DROP OFF
DROP OFF

DR
OP

 O
FF

DR
OP

 O
FF

OUTDOOR 
CLASSROOM

MULTI USE 
TRAIL

SHARED 
COURTS

FUTURE 
PORTABLES

FUTURE TENNIS 
COURTS

READING 
GARDEN

ON STREET PARKING & DROP OFF 

0m 20m10m 50m

CONCEPT 4 - GROUND

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

SCHOOL COMMONS

REC COMMONS

N

SHARED 
SCHOOLS

SEPARATE BUILDINGS CONCEPT PLANS
CONCEPT 4: One Campus, Two Separate Facilities
Site Plan I Ground Floor Plan

CONCEPT 4
*Preferred Concept

 ■ Two separate buildings: City (Recreation 
Complex and Idea Exchange) and School 
Boards (both schools and child care)

 ■ Developable site can be severed according to 
the ownership ratios determined between the 
City and School Boards

 ■ Outdoor play and amenity areas continue to 
be shared between all users on an agreed 
schedule

 ■ Fully separated parking and drop-off for School 
Board and City components, which may be 
shared as per agreement

 ■ Community park located between the two 
buildings maximizes visibility and access to 
playground and outdoor open space from the 
street

 ■ Entrance to City facilities creates a “main 
street” highlighting all key city activities

 ■ Compact and efficient plan reduces the 
combined schools’ gross floor area

 ■ School circulation is clearly separated for each 
Board

 ■ Total Joint-use Complex: 
 ■ GFA: 222,053 square feet
 ■ Estimated Total Project Cost: $ 93,135,000 

79



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS |  Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 38

K PLAY

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

MO
FF

AT
 C

RE
EK

 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

MO
FF

AT
 C

RE
EK

 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

C10

C11

ROOF

ROOF

ROOF

RO
OF

RO
OF

C12 C13 C14 ART

C9

C8

C7

C6

C5

C4 WR WR

C3

C2

C1

SCIENCE

SCIENCEMECH STAFF 

MECH FITNESS 

MECH ST

ST

MP RM 
MED

MP RM 
LARGE

MP RM 
SMALL

WR/ 
SERVICE

COURTYARD 
BELOW

OPEN TO 
BELOW

OPEN TO 
BELOW

OPEN TO 
BELOW

OPEN TO 
BELOW

OP
EN

 T
O 

BE
LO

W

OPEN TO 
BELOW

OPEN TO 
BELOW

ART

C5

C6

C7

C8

C9

C10

C11

CONCEPT 4 - 2ND

0m 20m10m 50m

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

SCHOOL COMMONS

REC COMMONS

N

SHARED 
SCHOOLS

SEPARATE BUILDINGS CONCEPT PLANS
CONCEPT 4: One Campus, Two Separate Facilities
Second Floor Plan

80



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS |  Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 39

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

ASPHALT 
PLAY

SOD PLAY 
FIELD

COMMUNITY 
PARK

SERVICE

READING 
GARDEN

OUTDOOR 
CLASSROOM

FUTURE PORTABLES

BUS DROP OFF

SHARED COURTS

DROP OFF

DR
OP

 O
FF

FUTURE 
PORTABLES

FAMILY
CH 1

FITNESS 
CH

SERVWR

FAMILY
CH 2

FAMILY
CH 3

FUTURE TENNIS 
COURTS

K PLAY

C5
WR

C4 C3
WR

C2 C1 C1RES

ST

ST

ST

ST

CH
CH

CH
CH

WR

C4

C5

C6

WR

C6

C7

C8

K2

K1

SPEC ED
CHILD CARE

IDEA EXCHANGE

REC ADMIN

AQ 
STAFF/

ST
K3

K4

K5

GP/FLEX

SPEC ED

CHAPEL

K1

K2

K3

C2 C3 CUSTOFFICE OFFICE

SERV

K PLAY

CC 
PLAY

ON STREET PARKING & DROP OFF 

MULTI USE 
TRAIL

0m 20m10m 50m

CONCEPT 5 - GROUND

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

SCHOOL COMMONS

REC COMMONS

N

SHARED 
SCHOOLS

SEPARATE BUILDINGS CONCEPT PLANS
CONCEPT 5: One Campus, Three Separate Facilities
Site Plan I Ground Floor Plan

CONCEPT 5
 ■ Three separate buildings: City (Recreation 

Complex and Idea Exchange),  WRSDB 
Elementary School and Child Care, and 
WCDSB Elementary School

 ■ Developable site can be severed according to 
the ownership ratios determined between the 
City and School Boards

 ■ Outdoor play and amenity areas continue to 
be shared between all users on an agreed 
schedule

 ■ Fully separated parking and drop-off for School 
Board and City components, which may be 
shared as per agreement

 ■ Limited visibility and access to playground and 
outdoor open space from the street

 ■ Entrance to City facilities creates a “main 
street” highlighting all key City activities

 ■ Total Joint-use Complex: 
 ■ GFA: 225,003 square feet
 ■ Estimated Total Project Cost: $ 94,339,000 

81



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS |  Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 40

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

ROOF

OPEN TO 
BELOW

OPEN TO 
BELOW

ROOF
SCI

MECH
STAFF

ST
AF

F

ST

ME
CH

LIBRARY
LIBRARY

ART

ART

SCI

C12

GP

C14 C11

WRC13

RES C10 C9 C8 C7

W
R

C9C10C11 WR/ 
ST

ROOF

RO
OF

MECH FITNESS 

MECH ST

ST

MP RM 
MED

MP RM 
LARGE

MP RM 
SMALL

WR/ 
SERVICE

OPEN TO 
BELOW

OPEN TO 
BELOW

OPEN TO 
BELOW

OP
EN

 T
O 

BE
LO

W

CONCEPT 5 - 2ND

0m 20m10m 50m

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

SCHOOL COMMONS

REC COMMONS

N

SHARED 
SCHOOLS

SEPARATE BUILDINGS CONCEPT PLANS
CONCEPT 5: One Campus, Three Separate Facilities
Second Floor Plan 

82



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 41

All partners agreed on the overall ranking of the five preliminary 
concept plans. Concepts 2 and 4 emerged as the preferred 
approaches to the joint-use campus.  

ENGINEERING DESIGN BRIEFS

Civil, structural, mechanical and electrical design briefs were prepared to describe the 
site and building engineering design requirements for the concepts. Refer to Appendix 
A4 for Civil, Structural, Mechanical and Electrical Design Briefs

ANALYSIS

PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT MATRIX

A detailed matrix was used to assess each concept during the preliminary concept 
development phase of this feasibility study. All partners participated in assessing the 
concepts. The advantages/disadvantages, risks and opportunities for each concept were 
assessed, evaluating the following:

 ■ Site
 ■ Building Program
 ■ Building Operations
 ■ Sustainability
 ■ Capital and Operating Costs
 ■ Construction Implications

Concept designs were finalized and a detailed analysis and ranking was completed for 
each, the results of which are presented below. 

83



42 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | CONCEPTUAL PLANS

Site
 ■ Opportunities for sharing outdoor play and 

amenity spaces are maximized
 ■ Separated and convenient parking and drop- 

off for each user
 ■ Conflict between school buses and access 

to school parking lot
 ■ Conflict between main building service 

area and City parking lot access (this will 
be mitigated by future access from East 
Boundary Road)

 ■ Limited open space and play areas are 
available to community during the school 
day

 ■ Wesley Boulevard frontage dominated by 
building and asphalt; does not present a 
“park face’ to the community

 ■ Very good identity for each user, with 
addresses on Wesley Boulevard

Building Program
 ■ Opportunities for joint-use and sharing are 

maximized
 ■ Each component’s footprint is clearly 

delineated
 ■ No potential for future additions to the 

schools

Building Operations
 ■ Each component can be independently 

secured
 ■ Very good access for sharing between the 

schools and the Idea Exchange
 ■ Access to the WRDSB’s shared gymnasium 

requires Recreation Complex users to use 
school corridors

 ■ Distance to a single shared service and 
garbage is challenging for the schools

 ■ Very efficient centrally located shared 
mechanical plant

 ■ Shared central plant will require the School 
Boards to follow the City’s operational 
timelines

Sustainability
 ■ Achieving LEED Gold for the City facilities 

is challenging due to the complexities of 
separating the building systems

 ■ Building envelope (cladding ratio of exterior 
wall to gross floor area) is high for the 
school reducing efficiency

Capital and Operating Costs
 ■ All building components have achieved 

gross floor area reductions over the original 
benchmarks space program

 ■ Area reductions have not been achieved 
over the reductions targeted through 
sharing program spaces due to additional 
circulation/connections to Recreation 
Complex

 ■ Exterior cladding ratios for the schools are 
higher than benchmark due to courtyards 
designed to bring daylight into a dense 
building form

 ■ The estimated total Construction Cost for 
Concept 1 is a blended $340 per square 
foot for all components totaling $74,122,000

 ■ The total construction cost is lowest for this 
concept because it has the lowest gross 
floor area of all concepts

 ■ The estimated Total Project Cost (including 
soft costs) is $92,393,000

 ■ The shared centralized heating, cooling, 
and air distribution systems can provide 
significant operational cost savings

 ■ Energy savings can be realized by more 
efficient equipment, energy recovery, and 
control strategies

 ■ Maintenance costs can be reduced by 
using fewer pieces of equipment in fewer 
locations

Construction Implications 
 ■ Limited opportunities to phase the 

construction as the building systems are 
interconnected

 ■ Potential to open the schools prior the 
completion of the Recreation Complex 
with careful planning and scheduling of 
construction activities

 ■ Safety is a major concern when partially 
occupying a school site while under 
construction

 ■ Construction timelines for the schools are 
longer than a stand-alone facility affecting 
occupancy date and construction costs 

CONCEPT 1: One Campus, One Facility, L−shaped Plan

84



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 43

Site
 ■ Opportunities for sharing outdoor play and 

amenity spaces maximized
 ■ Separated and convenient parking and drop- 

off for each user
 ■ School bus drop-off and access to school 

parking lot are completely separated
 ■ Conflict between main building service 

area and City parking lot access (this could 
be mitigated by future access from East 
Boundary Road)

 ■ Most open site area available for school 
playgrounds of all concepts

 ■ More open space and play areas are 
available to community, during the school 
day

 ■ Location of building and parking along 
Wesley Boulevard frontage opens up views 
and access providing a better “park face’ to 
the community

 ■ Good identity for each user, with main 
complex addresses on Wesley Boulevard, 
and school entrances, visible from street, 
located off the playground

Building Program
 ■ Opportunities for joint-use and sharing are 

maximized
 ■ Each component’s footprint is clearly 

delineated
 ■ Good potential for future additions to the 

schools by expanding the classroom wings 
to the west

Building Operations
 ■ Each component can be independently 

secured
 ■ Very good access for sharing between the 

schools and the Idea Exchange
 ■ Recreation Complex users can access 

WRDSB’s shared gymnasium without 
entering school corridors

 ■ Access to the single shared service and 
garbage is good for all users

 ■ Very efficient centrally located shared 
mechanical plant

 ■ Shared central plant will require the School 
Boards to follow the City’s operational 
timelines

Sustainability
 ■ Achieving LEED Gold for the City facilities 

is challenging due to the complexities of 
separating the building systems

 ■ Building envelope (cladding ratio of exterior 
wall to gross floor area) is fair for the 
schools and good for the City components

Capital and Operating Costs
 ■ All building components have achieved 

gross floor area reductions over the original 
benchmarks space program

 ■ Area reductions have not been achieved 
over the reductions targeted through 
sharing program spaces due to additional 
circulation/connections to Recreation 
Complex

 ■ Exterior cladding ratios are higher than 
benchmark funding for the schools due to 
plan configuration to bring daylight into a 
dense building form

 ■ The estimated total Construction Cost for 
Concept 2 is a blended $335 per square 
foot for all components totaling $76,843,000

 ■ The construction cost is higher than 
Concept 1 due to the larger GFA of the 
Recreation Complex. The overall cost 
per square foot is lower. The GFA can be 
reduced during the design development 
phase to reduce construction costs

 ■ The estimated Total Project Cost (including 
soft costs) is $96,076,000

 ■ The shared centralized heating, cooling, 
and air distribution systems can provide 
significant operational cost savings

 ■ Energy savings can be realized by more 
efficient equipment, energy recovery, and 
control strategies

 ■ Maintenance costs can be reduced by 
using fewer pieces of equipment in fewer 
locations

Construction Implications 
 ■ Limited opportunities to phase the 

construction as the building systems are 
interconnected

 ■ Potential to open the schools prior the 
completion of the Recreation Complex 
with careful planning and scheduling of 
construction activities

 ■ Safety is a major concern when partially 
occupying a school site while under 
construction. Construction timelines for the 
schools are longer than a stand-alone facility 
affecting occupancy date and construction 
costs 

CONCEPT 2: One Campus, One Facility, Block Plan

85



44 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | CONCEPTUAL PLANS

Site
 ■ Opportunities for sharing outdoor play and 

amenity spaces maximized
 ■ Single driveway access creates major 

conflict and congestion issues
 ■ No clear separation of parking for each user 

group
 ■ Linear parking layout creates safety issues
 ■ Drop-off for schools and child care are not 

conveniently located
 ■ Conflict between school buses and access 

to main parking lot
 ■ Conflict between main building service 

area and City parking lot access (this could 
be mitigated by future access from East 
Boundary Road)

 ■ Maximizes open site area available for 
school playgrounds of all concepts

 ■ Some open space and play areas are 
available to community, during the school 
day

 ■ Location of building and parking along the 
future East Boundary Road frontage opens 
up views and access creating a “building in 
a park”

 ■ Poor identity for each user from Wesley 
Boulevard; each user has an identity and 
access off the parking and greenspace 
along East Boundary Road

Building Program
 ■ Opportunities for joint-use and sharing are 

maximized
 ■ The schools’ footprint is not clearly 

delineated; school gymnasiums are 
accessed from the Recreation Complex 
circulation

 ■ Recreation Complex gymnasiums are 
located above the Idea Exchange resulting 
in access and supervision issues, and 
complex construction to mitigate sound and 
vibration issues

 ■ Good potential for future additions to the 
schools by expanding the classroom wings 
to the south west

Building Operations
 ■ More challenging to independently secure 

each component
 ■ Distance to the Idea Exchange makes 

access for sharing with the schools 
challenging

 ■ Conflict between for Recreation Complex 
users and the schools in accessing school 
gymnasiums

 ■ Distance to a single shared service and 
garbage is challenging for the City

 ■ Components, requiring access through the 
schools

 ■ Linear plan reduces efficiency of shared 
mechanical plant

 ■ Shared central plant will require the School 
Boards to follow the City’s operational 
timelines

Sustainability
 ■ Achieving LEED Gold for the City facilities 

is challenging due to the complexities of 
separating the building systems

 ■ Building envelope (cladding ratio of exterior 
wall to gross floor area) is high for all 
components (except the Idea Exchange) 
reducing efficiency

Capital and Operating Costs
 ■ Gross floor area reductions over the original 

benchmarks space program have not been 
achieved by all building components

 ■ Area reductions have not been achieved 
over the reductions targeted through 
sharing program spaces due to inefficient 
building plan and additional circulation/
connections to Recreation Complex

 ■ Exterior cladding ratios are highest of all 
concepts due to linear building configuration

 ■ The estimated total Construction Cost for 
Concept 3 is a blended $337 per square 
foot for all components totaling $75,537,000

 ■ The estimated Total Project Cost (including 
soft costs) is $94,077,000

 ■ The shared centralized heating, cooling, 
and air distribution systems can provide 
operational cost savings

 ■ Energy savings can be realized by more 
efficient equipment, energy recovery, and 
control strategies

 ■ Maintenance costs can be reduced by 
using fewer pieces of equipment in fewer 
locations

Construction Implications 
 ■ Limited opportunities to phase the 

construction as the building systems are 
interconnected and building program 
elements not clearly separated

 ■ No potential to open the schools prior the 
completion of the Recreation Complex

 ■ Construction timelines for the schools are 
longer than a stand-alone facility affecting 
occupancy date and construction costs 

CONCEPT 3: One Campus, One Facility, Linear Plan

86



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 45

Site
 ■ Opportunities for sharing outdoor play and 

amenity spaces maximized
 ■ Community Park is highly visible and inviting 

to the neighbourhood
 ■ Separated and convenient parking and drop- 

off for each user, can be shared as needed
 ■ School bus drop-off and access to school 

parking lot are completely separated
 ■ Conflict between City building service 

area and City parking lot access (this could 
be mitigated by future access from East 
Boundary Road)

 ■ Generous open site area available for school 
playgrounds

 ■ Very good identity for each user, with 
addresses on Wesley Boulevard

Building Program
 ■ Opportunities for joint-use and sharing are 

maximized in the schools
 ■ Opportunities for joint-use and sharing 

between the schools and City components 
are available, but not readily accessible

 ■ Opportunities for sharing between the 
Recreation Complex and Idea Exchange are 
maximized with the multi-purpose rooms 
and makerspace

 ■ Recreation Complex requires a third gym as 
sharing with the schools is not convenient

 ■ Schools require additional science and art 
classrooms as the classroom and maker 
space located in the Idea Exchange are not 
convenient

 ■ Each component’s footprint is clearly 
delineated

 ■ Some potential for future additions to the 
schools by expanding to the north

Building Operations
 ■ Each component can be independently 

secured
 ■ Two building can operate completely 

independently
 ■ Balances opportunities for sharing with 

need for identity, security & funding 
limitations

 ■ Separate garbage and service areas are 
required for each building

 ■ Separate mechanical plants are required for 
each building

Sustainability
 ■ LEED Gold for the City facilities is 

achievable
 ■ Building envelope (cladding ratio of exterior 

wall to gross floor area) meets acceptable 
standards for all components

Capital and Operating Costs
 ■ The schools have achieved gross floor area 

reductions over the original benchmarks 
space program

 ■ The Recreation Complex has achieved the 
targeted gross floor area

 ■ Exterior cladding ratios are efficient for each 
of the buildings

 ■ The estimated total Construction Cost for 
Concept 4 is a blended $335 per square 
foot for all components totaling $74,491,000

 ■ The construction cost per square foot is 
the lower for this concept based on simple 
efficient building forms

 ■ The estimated Total Project Cost (including 
soft costs) is $93,135,000

 ■ The decentralized approach can lead 
to higher operational costs due to less 
efficient equipment, more equipment to be 
maintained, and lower load diversity

 ■ The capital cost of the decentralized 
equipment can be considerably lower

Construction Implications 
 ■ The site can be severed and the schools can 

be built on their own schedule, in advance 
of the City portion of the site if desired

CONCEPT 4: One Campus, Two Separate Facilities 
*Preferred Concept

87



46 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | CONCEPTUAL PLANS

Site
 ■ Opportunities for sharing outdoor play and 

amenity spaces maximized
 ■ Separated and convenient parking and drop- 

off for each user
 ■ Conflict between school buses and access 

to school parking lot and Recreation 
Complex drop- off

 ■ Conflict between City building service 
area and City parking lot access (this could 
be mitigated by future access from East 
Boundary Road)

 ■ Generous open site area available for school 
playgrounds

 ■ Limited open space and play areas are 
available to community during the school 
day

 ■ Wesley Boulevard frontage dominated by 
building and asphalt; does not present a 
“park face’ to the community

 ■ Very good identity for each user, with 
addresses on Wesley Boulevard

Building Program
 ■ Opportunities for joint-use and sharing 

between all partners are available, but not 
readily accessible

 ■ Recreation Complex requires a third gym as 
sharing with the schools is not convenient

 ■ Each school requires its own science and art 
classrooms as they cannot easily share with 
each other and the classroom and maker 
space located in the Idea Exchange are not 
convenient

 ■ Each school requires its own provisions for 
a stage as they cannot share as in the other 
concepts

 ■ Each component’s footprint is clearly 
delineated

 ■ Some potential for future additions to the 
schools by expanding to the north

Building Operations
 ■ Each component can be independently 

secured
 ■ Three building can operate completely 

independently
 ■ Separate garbage and service areas are 

required for each building
 ■ Separate mechanical plants are required for 

each building

Sustainability
 ■ LEED Gold for the City facilities is 

achievable
 ■ Building envelope (cladding ratio of exterior 

wall to gross floor area) is higher for 
the schools, because they are separate 
buildings, reducing efficiency

Capital and Operating Costs
 ■ The schools meet the gross floor area of the 

original benchmarks space program
 ■ The Recreation Complex has not achieved 

gross floor area reductions due the low 
gross-up percentage allocated on the space 
program and the inherent inefficiencies 
locating the majority of the program 
elements on the ground floor resulting in a 
small second floor plate

 ■ Cladding ratios are efficient for each of the 
buildings

 ■ The estimated total Construction Cost 
for Concept 5 is a blended $336 per 
square foot for all components totaling 
$75,571,000

 ■ The estimated Total Project Cost (including 
soft costs) is $94,339,000

 ■ In Concept 5, the HVAC systems are further 
decentralized resulting in the highest 
operational costs of all concepts due to 
the amount of equipment provided and the 
lowest load diversity

 ■ The capital cost is unlikely to be less than 
that of Concept 4 because a larger number 
of smaller pieces of equipment are required

Construction Implications 
 ■ The site can be severed and the schools can 

be built on their own schedule, in advance 
of the City portion of the site if desired

CONCEPT 5: One Campus, Three Separate Facilities

88



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 47

ORDER OF MAGNITUDE COST ESTIMATE METHODOLOGY

An Order of Magnitude Cost Estimate is an estimate based on an initial functional 
program and preliminary conceptual plans. It is comprised of an elemental summary, 
and based on a rough cost per square foot for each element. The level of certainty, or 
potential cost variation, of this estimate is generally +/-15% to 20% depending on the 
complexity of the project. The costing includes a design and pricing allowances of 10% 
for items not yet known at this early stage of design. Allowances for construction price 
escalation and potential impact of Covid-19 on construction costs are not included in 
this estimate and should be evaluated as the project proceeds. 

Order of Magnitude Construction Cost Estimates were completed for all concepts. 
Building and site costs were allocated to each component.

Total Project Budget

Total Project Budget is defined as all costs to complete a building project, excluding 
land acquisition, and in the case of this site, site servicing and rough grading being 
completed by the subdivision developer.  The total project budget is comprised of 
Hard Costs (construction costs for the site and building) and Soft Costs (other non-
construction related costs).

Hard Costs would typically include:
 ■ All labour and material costs directly related to the physical construction of the 

building, fixed equipment and site
 ▪ Site development, on-site servicing, paving and landscaping
 ▪ Structure
 ▪ Exterior enclosures (cladding and roofing)
 ▪ Interiors (partitions and doors, finishes, fixed fittings and equipment)
 ▪ Services (mechanical, electrical, IT, security, etc.)
 ▪ General Contractors overhead costs and profit

Soft Costs would typically include:
 ■ Furniture and loose equipment
 ■ Consulting fees
 ■ Permit and municipal approvals fees
 ■ Studies such as geotechnical investigations, surveys
 ■ Legal fees
 ■ Internal administration costs
 ■ Owner’s construction contingency
 ■ HST

89



48 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | CONCEPTUAL PLANS

Development charges are not included in soft costs, and should be treated as a specific 
exclusion as these can be waived for certain owners. Development charges are not paid 
by City or School Boards when developing lands for their own purposes.

For school construction soft costs are calculated at 15% of the construction budget. 
This ratio is stipulated in the Ministry benchmarks for construction. Soft costs for the 
Recreation Complex and Idea Exchange would be in the range of 25% to 30% of 
construction budget.  School Board soft costs are generally lower than those for public 
recreational facilities. The largest difference is in FFE (furniture, fittings and equipment). 
The outfitting of a Recreation Complex and Library is more extensive and expensive. 
Design and consulting fees are lower for a school project. Project management costs 
are generally higher for municipal clients. 

Construction Cost Methodology for Consolidated Building Concepts 
(Concepts 1, 2 and 3)

Building Development Costs
 ■ Building costs were allocated to each partner based on their measured GFA, 

exterior wall area, roofing area, etc. Where spaces are shared, for instance some 
circulation or mechanical spaces, the costs were allocated pro-rata  to each partner

 ■ School estimated costs are based on standard specifications for a stand-alone 
school built to Ministry of Education benchmarks, e.g., quality of cladding, 
roofing, finishes, etc.

 ■ City facility costs are based on specifications for a high-performance building 
designed to LEED Gold standards

 ■ Operating costs for the school portion may be higher as the building envelope 
does not meet the high-performance standards required for the City portions to 
achieve the desired LEED rating

 ■ Building envelope (cladding) ratios are higher in the consolidated concepts where 
courtyards are used to bring daylight into internal spaces of a dense compact plan

 ■ It is anticipated that a higher tier general contractor would construct the larger, 
more complex consolidated concepts, because of the Recreation Complex 
aquatics component, therefore the General Conditions and Fees would be at a 
higher rate that a stand-alone school or joint schools

 ■ Shared components, where not specifically designated to one partner’s space 
program, are allocated to each partner using their respective gross floor area ratio

Site Development Costs
 ■ Site areas designated for school play were allocated to each Board using the 

ownership ratios agreed to in the Memorandum of Understanding between all 
parties (55.2% WRDSB, 44.8% WCDSB)

90



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 49

 ■ Site areas designated for City play, e.g., community park, outdoor courts, future 
tennis, were allocated to the Recreation Complex

 ■ Parking and paved areas were allocated to each partner using a ratio of the 
number of parking spaces designated for each

 ■ The remainder of the site development area was allocated to each partner using 
their agreed ownership ratios (55.4% City, 24.6% WRDSB, 20% WCDSB)

Construction Cost Methodology for Separate Buildings Concepts (Concepts 4 and 5)

Building Development Costs
 ■ Costs were calculated assuming the site is severed using the agreed ownership 

ratios (55.4% City, 44.6% schools), and facilities are built by two separate 
contractors

 ■ School estimated costs are based on standard specifications for a stand-alone 
school built to Ministry of Education benchmarks, e.g., quality of cladding, 
roofing, finishes, etc.

 ■ City facility costs are based on specifications for a high-performance building 
designed to LEED Gold standards

 ■ It is anticipated that a higher tier general contractor would construct the larger, 
more complex City facility therefore the General Conditions and Fees would be at 
a higher rate than for the stand-alone schools

Site Development Costs
 ■ Site costs were allocated as per the agreed ownership ratios (55.4% City, 44.6% 

schools)
 ■ Site areas designated for school play were allocated to each Board using their 

agreed ownership ratios (55.2% WRDSB, 44.8% WCDSB)
 ■ Site areas designated for City play, e.g., community park, outdoor courts, future 

tennis, were allocated to the Recreation Complex
 ■ Parking and paved areas were allocated to each School Board and between 

the Recreation Complex and the Idea Exchange, using a ratio of the number of 
parking spaces designated for each

 ■ Parking and paved areas were allocated to the Recreation Complex and the Idea 
Exchange using a ratio of the number of parking spaces designated for each

The agreed ownership ratios may be revisited based on detailed design and anticipated 
needs for building footprint and outdoor amenities, such as play areas, future portable 
space, drop off areas, etc.

91



50 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | CONCEPTUAL PLANS

School Costing Notes   

The order of magnitude cost estimates for both schools in all concepts exceed the 
Ministry benchmarks for funding. The WRDSB funding was approved by the Ministry in 
2016. The total benchmark project funding for this school is $10,932,002. The WCDSB 
funding was approved in 2020, at a higher per square foot cost, with total project 
benchmark funding for this school at $8,652,378. Total project costs includes both hard 
costs and soft costs. The portion of this funding allocated to construction costs is 85%. 
School Boards receive funding in addition to the benchmarks noted above, through 
Education Development Charges (EDC). This funding is available for site preparation 
costs and extraordinary site costs, e.g., poor soils conditions, engineered fill, storm 
water management and site services, retaining walls, structural premiums due to site 
conditions, etc. EDC costs for the schools may be in the order of up to $1,000,000 for 
each school.

It is typical at the concept design phase for estimated construction costs for school 
projects to exceed the funding available. Costs are refined through value-engineering as 
the design progresses.

Value Engineering

Value engineering is a creative and systematic effort, which analyzes the requirements 
of a project for the purpose of achieving the essential functions at the lowest total 
costs (capital, staffing, energy, maintenance) over the life of the project. Through a 
collaborative effort, by all team members, value and economy are improved through the 
study of alternate design concepts, materials, and methods without compromising the 
agreed functional and value objectives. Value engineering can be applied at any point in 
a project, even in construction. However, typically the earlier it is applied the higher the 
return on the time and effort invested.

The next step in establishing project budgets, as the partners move into the design 
development phases of the project, would include a value engineering exercise. Value 
engineering workshops can be where the design team and building stakeholders first 
create an extensive list of opportunities for savings. In the workshop, “pros and cons” 
would be established for each item and a corresponding capital value established for 
each. At the end of the workshop the client group would be asked to agree which items 
would be accepted to achieve the required cost savings.

92



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 51

General Costing Notes

Achieving the gross floor area targeted reductions for the Recreation Complex is a 
challenge due to the low gross-up allocated on the space program, and the requirement 
for generous circulation spaces to operate the facility. Further development of the 
space program and design, as the project moves forward, will result in efficiencies that 
will mitigate this issue. This process is typical and is similar to the value engineering 
process.

There may be opportunities to fund specific items e.g., school playground equipment, 
outdoor classrooms, Recreation Complex equipment, etc., through community 
fundraising or corporate sponsorships.

As the difference in total construction costs for the various concepts is not 
substantial, a 5% variance between the lowest and highest, capital cost should 
not be used as the key factor in selecting the preferred concept. Over a 40-year 
building lifespan design and construction costs are approximately 15% to 20% of the 
total building cost, capital asset management is 10% to 20%, and operations and 
maintenance are by far the biggest cost of ownership at 60% to 80%.

The following chart summarizes the estimate total project cost for each partner in 
relation to their benchmark areas, targeted area reductions for joint-use of space in the 
consolidated concepts, and benchmark funding for the schools.

Refer to the Appendix A5 for the Elemental Cost Summary for each Concept.

93



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS |  Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 52

CAMBRIDGE JOINT-USE CAMPUS - TOTAL PROJECT BUDGET SUMMARY

GFA $/sf Amount GFA $/sf Amount GFA $/sf Amount GFA $/sf Amount GFA $/sf Amount
WRDSB
Current 50,741 295$           14,959,000$  51,990 279$           14,493,000$ 53,206 291$           15,503,000$ 52,773 263$           13,892,000$ 54,896 271$           14,852,000$ 
Benchmark (based on 2016 Ministry Funding) 53,240 205$           10,932,002$  53,240 205$           10,932,002$ 53,240 205$           10,932,002$ 53,240 205$           10,932,002$ 53,240 205$           10,932,002$ 
Target GFA for construction (including larger gym in Consolidated) 53,745 53,745 53,745 53,705 53,240
Target GFA (to be funded by WRDSB, only applies to Consolidated) 52,535 52,535 52,535

WRDSB Child Care
Current 8,934 317$           2,836,000$    8,611 317$           2,729,000$   8,503 318$           2,704,000$   8,503 312$           2,651,000$   8,665 318$           2,758,000$   
Benchmark (based on 2016 Ministry Funding) 8,500 303$           2,571,267$    8,500 303$           2,571,267$   8,500 303$           2,571,267$   8,500 303$           2,571,267$   8,500 303$           2,571,267$   

WCDSB
Current 40,935 308$           12,607,000$  39,267 307$           12,064,000$ 42,528 315$           13,395,000$ 41,335 287$           11,857,000$ 42,001 293$           12,317,000$ 
Benchmark (based on 2020 Ministry Funding) 42,645 203$           8,652,378$    42,645 203$           8,652,378$   42,645 203$           8,652,378$   42,645 203$           8,652,738$   42,645 203$           8,652,738$   
Target GFA for construction (including shared stage in Consolidated) 39,655 39,655 39,655 41,215 42,645
Target GFA (to be funded by WCDSB, only applies to Consolidated) 39,065 39,065 39,065

Recreation Complex
Current 103,670 541$           56,115,000$  115,676 527$           60,936,000$ 106,375 534$           56,843,000$ 105,842 553$           58,490,000$ 105,842 550$           58,180,000$ 
Benchmark GFA 104,020 104,020 104,020 104,020 104,020
Target GFA for construction (Consolidated Concepts only) 99,260 99,260 99,260 106,160 106,160
Target GFA (to be funded by City, only applies to Consolidated) 100,960 100,960 100,960 106,160 106,160

Idea Exchange
Current 13,600 432$           5,876,000$    13,600 430$           5,854,000$   13,600 414$           5,632,000$   13,600 459$           6,245,000$   13,600 458$           6,232,000$   
Maximum Approved GFA 13,600 13,600 13,600 13,600 13,600
Target GFA for construction (Consolidated Concepts only) 13,790 13,790 13,790 13,600 13,600
Target GFA (to be funded by Idea Exchange) 13,600 13,600 13,600 13,600 13,600

Joint-use Complex Total Estimated Project Cost 217,880 424$           92,393,000$  229,144 419$           96,076,000$ 224,213 420$           94,077,000$ 222,053 419$           93,135,000$ 225,003 419$           94,339,000$ 

DESCRIPTION
CONCEPT 2

CONSOLIDATED CONCEPTS: One Campus, One Facility SEPARATED BUILDINGS CONCEPTS: One Campus, Separate Facilities
CONCEPT 1 CONCEPT 3 CONCEPT 4 CONCEPT 5

94



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 53

CONSTRUCTION TIMELINES

Typical Project Schedule

Consolidated Concepts

After completion of the Feasibility Study, and agreement by all parties to proceed, 
the design and construction phase of the project will begin. Design and approvals 
for a project of this scope and complexity will take 18 to 24 months. The bidding and 
procurement (tender) phase would take 2 to 3 months, and construction would span a 
minimum 2 years. A typical project schedule, for a project of this scope and complexity, 
from the beginning of the design and construction phase to occupancy is 4 to 5 years.

Task Name Duration
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

JUC Draft Project Schedule 198 wks

RFP for Consulting Services 12 wks

Design & Approvals 74 wks

Schematic Design 10 wks

Design Development 12 wks

Contract Documents 28 wks

Approvals 36 wks

Site Plan Approval 36 wks

Building Permit 8 wks

Ministry Approval to Proceed 16 wks

Tender 8 wks

Contract Administration 112 wks

Construction 104 wks

Substantial Performance 0 wks

Owner Fit-up 8 wks

Occupancy 0 wks





Separated Buildings Concepts

For the recommended approach, Concept 4, if the site is severed each partner can 
proceed at its own pace. The City facility schedule will be the same as the schedule for 
the Consolidated Concepts. For the combined school facility, the design and approvals 
phase will take 12 to 18 months. The bidding and procurement (tender) phase would 
take 2 months, and construction would span a minimum 14 months. A typical project 
schedule, for the combined schools, from the beginning of the design and construction 
phase to occupancy is approximately 3 years.

95



54 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | CONCEPTUAL PLANS

POTENTIAL RISKS

When the project moves froward into the design and construction phase there are 
risks that should be monitored. These are noted throughout the report and summarized 
below:

Schedule

Issue Impact Mitigation

Negotiation of Development and 
Joint-use Agreements

Delay to project start and 
occupancy for all parties

Memorandum of Understanding 
allows work to continue while 
agreements are resolved

Select a separate buildings 
option and sever land to allow 
owners to proceed at own pace

Complex approvals process 
including Rezoning, Site Plan 
Approval, GRCA

Delay to project start and 
occupancy for all parties

Further reduction of usable site 
area due to wetland restrictions

Allow for lengthy approvals 
process in project schedule

Timing of construction of East 
Boundary Road

Limits access to site from one 
street only - Wesley Boulevard

Ensure on-site traffic can operate 
effectively without the future 
EBR access

Project Cost

Issue Impact Mitigation

Challenges in meeting Ministry 
benchmarks for school 
construction

Escalation costs due to lengthy 
project schedule are not funded 
by Ministry 

Benchmark square foot costs 
do not align with current 
construction market

Delayed Ministry Approval to 
Proceed with Construction

Extensive cost savings measures 
required to meet benchmark, 
affecting project scope or quality 

Continuous value engineering 
and assessment of all decisions 
throughout the design process

Maximize sharing opportunities 
and minimize gross-up to reduce 
GFA

Meeting the gross floor area 
cap for the Recreation Complex 
when the allocated percentage 
gross-up area is insufficient

Gross floor area exceeds 
City benchmark, increasing 
construction cost

Careful review of space program 
to find efficiencies

Continuous value engineering 
and assessment of all decisions 
throughout the design process 
to reduce GFA while maintaining 
required functional program

LEED 

Issue Impact Mitigation

Challenge in achieving LEED 
Gold for City components in 
consolidated building concepts

City does not meet its 
sustainability targets, affecting 
operating costs

Maximize sustainable initiatives 
within LEED framework

96



 CONCEPTUAL PLANS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 55

FUTURE CONSIDERATIONS

When the project moves forward into the design and construction phase there are a 
number of items that should be addressed. These are noted throughout the report and 
summarized below:

Site
 ■ Undertake a topographical survey of the property upon completion of the 

developer’s grading (currently underway at time of this report) to assess new site 
conditions and full scope of grading challenges and opportunities

 ■ Update geotechnical investigations to provide general soils information for 
detailed engineering design, and to assess the feasibility of geothermal, ground 
source heat pump systems, on site

 ■ Complete a detailed review of Zoning requirements and how they might be 
different once the property is severed

 ■ Maintain ongoing conversation with the Region to keep updated on the design 
and construction timing of future East Boundary Road, as well as explore right-in-
right-out access from this road onto the site

 ■ Maintain ongoing conversations with the Grand River Conservation Authority 
(GRCA): conduct a thorough review of the Environmental Impact Study to confirm 
detailed bounds of development related to the wetlands, as well as details of 
required GRCA development permit

 ■ Determine ownership conveyance of the protected wetlands on the north-
western site boundary

 ■ Maintain ongoing conversations with Grand River Transit to assess appropriate 
location of new bus stop on Wesley Boulevard or potentially on the joint-use 
campus site

 ■ Undertake a transportation impact and parking demand study to confirm parking 
requirements 

Space Program and Project Costs
 ■ Continue detailed development of space program requirements for Recreation 

Complex including:
 ▪ Consideration of 8-lane pool, which is typical for many other municipalities and 
will reduce project cost

 ▪ Review of allocation of gross-up area, which at 15% is very low for a facility of this 
scope and complexity

 ■ Engage in on-going value engineering for all components to align gross floor area 
and project costs with benchmarks, while achieving the essential functions over 
the life of the project

97



56 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | CONCEPTUAL PLANS

 ■ Undertake energy modeling and an associated financial analysis, comparing 
premium capital costs associated with energy saving measures against payback 
and savings over time, to determine sustainability targets for the project

 ■ Allowances for construction price escalation and potential impact of Covid-19 on 
construction costs are not included in this estimate and should be evaluated as 
the project proceeds

 ■ Pursue additional funding for school design and construction of the schools 
through a detailed analysis of funding available from Education Development 
Charges, which are available for site preparation costs and extraordinary site costs

 ■ Consider opportunities to fund specific items through community fundraising or 
corporate sponsorships

Partner Agreements
 ■ Engage in continuing collaboration between all partners to establish development, 

joint-use and operational agreements
 ■ Revisit ownership ratios based on detailed design and anticipated needs 

98



8Joint Use 
Agreements

99



58 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | JOINT USE AGREEMENTS

JOINT USE AGREEMENTS

In addition to Development and Capital Cost Sharing Agreements, the partners must 
work together to establish a Joint-use Agreement for the campus. This is a formal 
agreement between all parties setting out the terms and conditions for shared use of the 
site and facilities.

The agreement will reflect the unique requirements of the specific design of the facility, 
e.g., the agreement for a fully consolidated building will look very different from the 
agreement for one or two, or three separate buildings sharing a site; and it will be 
different again if the site is severed.

The negotiation of a joint-use agreement is a lengthy legal process and requires 
cooperation from all parties. The partnership between the City, Idea Exchange and School 
Boards has been strengthened by their cooperative effort throughout the feasibility study 
process. The collaborative development of multiple design concepts has advanced all of 
the partners’ understanding and appreciation of the benefits and complexities of sharing.

The following topics will form the basis of the Joint-use Agreement:
General Terms of the Agreement

 ■ Establish effective date, number of years, and protocol for renewal

Governance
 ■ Establish a Joint Campus Operations Steering Committee
 ■ Investigate any union/contract issues between parties to the agreement

Communication Protocol
 ■ Identify who will be responsible for communicating with partners about the 

agreement
 ■ Identify who will be responsible for making decisions regarding the agreement
 ■ Establish a process for resolving disagreements regarding any aspect of the 

agreement

Priority of Uses/Scheduling
 ■ Rank the priority of use of specific shared facilities between each partner, to 

allocate facility use accordingly, e.g., use of gymnasiums; meeting rooms; outdoor 
play areas; before and after school programs and space use; etc.

 ■ Determine which entity will be responsible for scheduling use
 ■ Determine how to accommodate schedule changes
 ■ Establish staggered bell-times for two schools to accommodate drop-off and use of 

outdoor play areas

Third-Party Use
 ■ Establish the priority of uses for third-party programs
 ■ Agree on the protocol for scheduling
 ■ Coordinate third-party permitting or lease procedures

100



 JOINT USE AGREEMENTS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 59

Access and Security
 ■ Determine security needs
 ■ Identify employees who will need access to each partner’s property or facilities
 ■ Develop security protocol
 ■ Establish one security platform that can be customized for each party, e.g., School 

Boards’ lock-down and safe welcome requirements
 ■ Consider one full time central contact and security office for all parties

IT and Communications
 ■ Coordinate IT and communications systems for shared networks with individual 

controls for each user
 ■ Establish IT network security protocols

Custodial Services
 ■ Determine any shared custodial services/equipment needed
 ■ Allocate responsibility for waste management

Operations and Maintenance
 ■ Establish a single Building Operations lead (likely the City) to manage shared 

facilities and building systems
 ■ Determine which components of costs to measure, the methodology to use to 

determine costs, and how to allocate costs and fees
 ■ Ensure separate metering of any shared services for each partner
 ■ Allocate responsibility for regular property maintenance
 ■ Determine whether additional maintenance is needed, and which party will provide 

service

Inspection and Notification of Damage
 ■ Coordinate the manner/frequency of property inspection 
 ■ Determine protocol for notifying partners of damage 

Restitution and Repair
 ■ Determine the method and responsibility for property repair and replacement
 ■ Determine the methods of calculating and allocating repair costs

Improvements Protocols
 ■ Establish conditions governing how partners will be permitted to make 

improvements (renovations/additions) 

Risk Management and Legal Issues
 ■ Determine the types and amounts of insurance to require, consistent with each 

partners’ risk management requirements
 ■ Allocate liability risk and determine whether or what type of indemnification is 

required

Dispute Resolution
 ■ Establish a procedure for resolving disputes

101



9Conclusions

102



 CONCLUSIONS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 61

A number of approaches (consolidated and separate) have been explored. All conceptual 
approaches demonstrate that a joint-use campus is achievable and will provide much 
greater benefits to the community than stand-alone buildings on stand-alone sites.

The site is well located for access by the current and future residents of this developing 
neighbourhood. Planned active transportation networks and transit infrastructure will 
provide healthy and sustainable alternatives to vehicular access to the campus. The 
wetland to the west creates learning opportunities for the students and a naturalized 
buffer to the site. The site is appropriately sized to accommodate the building program 
and required parking and drop-off facilities, while providing generous open greenspace 
for active and passive play.

The proposed partnership between the City, Idea Exchange and two School Boards 
creates an exemplary community hub providing a seamless integrated day from child 
care, school day, before and after, and after hours and weekends for all age groups. A 
detailed analysis of each partner’s program offerings explored sharing opportunities 
and synergies that benefit all users. Students and users of the joint-use campus 
benefit from sharing and exposure to new activities at the Recreation Complex and 
Idea Exchange. Families can participate in multiple different activities on the same site. 
Multi-generational community connections are enhanced and encouraged.

Many factors were considered when making a final decision on whether to proceed 
with a fully consolidated building (Concept 2: One Campus, One Facility) or a separated 
buildings approach (Concept 4: One Campus, Two Separate Facilities).

The proposed joint-use campus will create a community hub 
offering educational, recreational and cultural activities for 
all ages for this Cambridge community. A shared approach 
provides better value for money for the community, and best 
utilization of all program spaces.

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

 DROP OFF

CC PLAY

K PLAY

CHILD CARE

IDEA 
EXCHANGE

SHARED 
OFFICE STAFF

K1 K2 K3

K1 K2 K3

K4

K5

C1

C2

C3 STAGE

C4

C5 C6 C7 C8 C9 CH CH

CH ST

CH

CH

REC ADMIN

AQ STAFF

FAMILY 
CH 1

FAMILY 
CH 2

FAMILY 
CH 3

CH CH ST

CUST

ST

ST
C1

WR

WR ST

WR

GP

CHAPEL

SPEC 
ED

SPEC 
ED

K PLAY

COURTYARD

SERVICE, GARBAGE, 
ST & MECH

SHARED COURTS

FUTURE 
TENNIS COURTS

FUTURE PORTABLES

FUTURE PORTABLES

OUTDOOR CLASSROOM

OUTDOOR 
CLASSROOM

 D
RO

P 
OF

F

 BUS DROP OFF

ASPHALT 
PLAY

SERVICE

SOD PLAY 
FIELD

MULTI USE
TRAIL

ON STREET PARKING & DROP OFF 

0m 20m10m 50m

CONCEPT 2 - GROUND

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

SCHOOL COMMONS

REC COMMONS

N

SHARED 
SCHOOLS

K PLAY

WESLEY BOULEVARD

FUTURE EAST BOUNDARY ROAD 

LINE OF DEVELOPMENT

ASPHALT 
PLAY SERVICE

SOD PLAY 
FIELD

COMMUNITY 
PARK

K 
PLAY

K 
PLAY

CC
PLAY

CHILD 
CARE

WR

WR

WR

K1

K1

K2

K3

C1

C2

C3

C4

SPEC ED

CHAPEL

REC 
ADMIN

FAMILY 
CH 1

AQ 
STAFF/

ST

FAMILY 
CH 2

FAMILY 
CH 3

K2

K3

K4

K5

CH

CH CH

CHST

STST ST

ST

STAGE

COURTYARD

SHARED 
LIBRARY

SHARED 
OFFICE

IDEA EXCHANGE

FITNESS 
CHWR SERVICE

SERVICE SERVICE

SPEC ED

BUS DROP OFF
DROP OFF

DR
OP

 O
FF

DR
OP

 O
FF

OUTDOOR 
CLASSROOM

MULTI USE 
TRAIL

SHARED 
COURTS

FUTURE 
PORTABLES

FUTURE TENNIS 
COURTS

READING 
GARDEN

ON STREET PARKING & DROP OFF 

0m 20m10m 50m

CONCEPT 4 - GROUND

WRDSB

WCDSB

CHILD CARE

REC COMPLEX

IDEA EXCHANGE

SCHOOL COMMONS

REC COMMONS

N

SHARED 
SCHOOLS

Concept 2 Concept 4

103



62 | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | CONCLUSIONS

The Consolidated Building Concepts, of which Concept 2: One Campus, One Facility 
is preferred, exploit the many joint-use and sharing opportunities most effectively 
through proximity, convenience, and both physical and visual access to these activities 
which are all available within a single complex. Within a consolidated facility both 
planned and serendipitous joint-use are possible. Open greenspace and playground 
areas are maximized. The facility and its central plant can be managed by a single 
operator (the City), reducing operations and maintenance costs.

The decision to proceed with a Separated Buildings Concept, of which Concept 4: 
One Campus, Two Separate Facilities is preferred, is based on three major factors. 

The first important factor is capital cost. The separated concepts allow the City and 
the School Boards to proceed at their own pace. The design and construction of the 
City facility will take longer than the shared school building. In this concept the school 
construction can be accelerated. This is important as the funds for school construction 
are fixed; the Ministry benchmark does not allow for additional funding for construction 
cost escalation. Meeting the required gross floor areas is also more achievable for all 
partners in separated buildings. The additional circulation required to maintain safe and 
secure access to each component while sharing, and the complex plan configurations 
required to bring daylight into the dense building footprint are eliminated.  Reducing 
gross floor area, while maintaining the required functional program, is an essential 
consideration in reducing both capital and operating costs. 

The second issue is the necessary separation of elementary-aged school children, for 
safety and security reasons, from the general population using the rest of the facility. 
Although this challenge is addressed in the concept designs of the consolidated 
building by ensuring separate and secure entrances and circulation for the schools, 
all partners agree that the campus will operate most successfully in two separate 
buildings. Outdoor play space for the schools is also more clearly defined and secured 
during the school day. The two separate buildings frame a community park, accessible 
at all times to local residents directly off Wesley Boulevard. 

The third factor is the challenge and complexity of the development a Joint-use 
Agreement, which may take a number of years to complete, and the impact that may 
have on opening date of these much needed elementary schools. A memorandum of 
understanding, regarding the joint-use terms and conditions could mitigate this issue.  
As the schools’ scheduled opening is paramount, Concept 4 allows the site to be 
severed and the school construction to proceed at an accelerated pace.

104



 CONCLUSIONS | Joint-use Campus Feasibility Study | 63

Effective deployment of capital investment and operational efficiencies will be realized 
to varying degrees depending on the approach selected when moving forward with 
the project. It is important to note that the concept designs are only the beginning 
of a process. When a decision is made to proceed, the selected space program and 
design will continue to be developed in detail, meeting each users’ specific program 
requirements, while finding more synergies, and value-engineering to achieving the 
essential functions at the lowest total costs over the life of the project.

The purpose this study, and of testing a variety of conceptual designs, is to facilitate a 
decision on whether the proposed joint-use campus is feasible. Is it a good investment 
of public funds? Does it enhance each partner’s vision? Does the community benefit?

This study concludes that the answer is “yes” to all of those questions.

The final recommendation is to proceed with Concept 4: One 
Campus, Two Separate Facilities

105



THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

106




